Determinants of Self-referral Pathways to Youth Mental Health Services

and

Their Impact on Timely Access to Care

Nora Morrison

Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health

McGill University, Montreal

August, 2024

Thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of

Master of Science in Epidemiology ©

Nora Morrison, 2024

Table of Contents

ENGLISH ABSTRACT	5
FRENCH ABSTRACT	7
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	
INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	
1.1 Mental disorders and mental health systems	
1.1.1 Defining mental disorders	
1.1.2 Mental health systems	
1.2 PATHWAYS TO CARE FOR YOUNG PEOPLE	
1.2.1 Barriers to care for young people	
1.2.2 Key help-seeking contacts and barriers to mental health care	in high-income countries
1.3 Open referral systems and self-referral	
1.3.2 Research gaps	
CHAPTER 2: STUDY CONTEXT AND OBJECTIVES	
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	
3.1 Study design and data source	
3.2 ETHICS APPROVAL	

3.3 STUDY SITES AND PARTICIPANTS	46
3.4 VARIABLES OF INTEREST	46
3.4.1 Referral source	46
3.4.2 Wait time	49
3.4.3 Sociodemographic characteristics	50
3.4.4 Clinical and functioning characteristics	55
3.4.5 Service use characteristics	56
3.4.6 Time since implementation of ACCESS and COVID-19	56
3.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSES	58
3.5.1 Statistical analyses: Aim I – determinants of self-referral	58
3.5.2 Statistical analyses: Aim II- impact of self-referral on wait times to first appointme	ent
	58
3.5.3 Investigating and dealing with missingness	59
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	61
4.1 Missing data	61
4.2 SAMPLE CHARACTERISTICS	63
4.3 PREDICTORS OF SELF-REFERRAL PATHWAY USE	64
4.4 TIME TO FIRST APPOINTMENT FOR SELF- VS OTHER REFERRALS	65
4.4.1 Exploratory analyses of components comprising the time from referral to first	
appointment	66
4.5 POST HOC ANALYSIS- INTERACTION BETWEEN CLINICAL GLOBAL IMPRESSIONS-YOUTH	
MENTAL HEALTH SCORE AND REFERRAL SOURCE AND ITS IMPACT ON TIME FROM REFERRAL T	°O
FIRST APPOINTMENT	68

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION 69
5.2 TIMELINESS OF THE FIRST APPOINTMENT AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH REFERRAL SOURCE 73
5.3 Strengths and limitations
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS
TABLES AND FIGURES
SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL 108
SIBLIOGRAPHY115

English Abstract

Aims: The traditional youth mental health system has been criticized for being inaccessible and complicated, with youth making multiple stops before receiving care. ACCESS Open Minds (ACCESS), a services research project, developed, implemented, and evaluated a transformation of youth mental health services at 14 sites across Canada. Unlike the traditional system, ACCESS allowed youth to refer themselves (self-referral). Self-referral has been theorized to shorten treatment delays, especially for traditionally underserved youth. Questions remain about which youth self-refer and if it impacts wait times to mental health services. This study aims to compare: (1) socio-demographic and clinical characteristics associated with self-referral versus other referral routes among help-seeking youth at ACCESS sites; (2) wait times to first appointment for those self-referring versus using other routes. We hypothesized that self-referral would be associated with shorter wait times to first appointment.

Methods: Data on sociodemographic, clinical, referral pathways, and service use factors were collected via records, self-report forms, and clinical interviews. Eleven of the fourteen sites were included in the analyses; excluded sites were either not part of the cohort study (n=2) or did not collect data on key outcomes (n=1). Multiple logistic regression and an accelerated failure time model, both with multilevel modelling, were used to investigate the first and second aim, respectively. Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations (MICE) was used to handle missingness.

Results: The analytic sample included 4,421 youth; 39% were self-referred and 61% arrived via other referral pathways. The odds of self-referral were higher for each increasing year of age (OR:1.10, 95% CI:1.06-1.14), for those who did not have a secondary diploma, compared to

those who were too young to have a secondary diploma (OR:1.42, 95% CI:1.02-1.98); for those who had previously been assessed at ACCESS sites, compared to those with no previous service seeking (OR:2.28, 95% CI:1.61-3.24), and for each six-month increase in time since ACCESS implementation (OR:1.09, 95% CI:1.05-1.14). Conversely, sexual minority youth (OR:0.81, 95% CI:0.67-0.98) and those with moderate-to-significant difficulties with functioning (OR:0.81, 95% CI:0.65-0.99) were less likely to self-refer. Self-referral was not associated with gender, ethnic or cultural origins, engagement in education, employment, or training, presence of a reliable adult, mental health problem severity, or coming in before or after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Controlling for these socio-demographic, clinical, and service use factors, self-referral was associated with decreased time (in days) from referral to first appointment (TR:0.70, 95% CI:0.65-0.76). Explanatory analyses showed that the increased time to first appointment for those referred by others is attributable to the time needed to first contact the referral source and then the youth to offer an appointment.

Conclusions: The notable uptake of self-referral and its impact on increasing timeliness of access to care suggest that self-referral should remain a feature of youth mental health service reform. However, this pathway was used differentially by youth based on certain characteristics, which may contribute to disparities in timely access to care. Future work should promote self-referral, particularly among those less likely to use it, while reducing delays to appointments for youth referred by others. French Abstract

Objectifs: Le système traditionnel de santé mentale pour les jeunes a été critiqué pour être inaccessible et compliqué, les jeunes devant faire plusieurs arrêts avant de recevoir des soins. ACCESS Open Minds (ACCESS), un projet de recherche sur les services, a développé, mis en œuvre et évalué une transformation des services de santé mentale pour les jeunes dans 14 sites à travers le Canada. Contrairement au système traditionnel, ACCESS permet aux jeunes de se référer eux-mêmes (auto-référencement). L'auto-référencement a été théorisé pour raccourcir les délais de traitement, surtout traditionnellement pour les jeunes défavorisés. Des questions subsistent sur les jeunes qui s'auto-référencent et si cela impacte les temps d'attente pour les services de santé mentale. Cette étude vise à: (1) comparer les caractéristiques sociodémographiques et cliniques associées à l'auto-référencement par rapport aux autres voies de référencement parmi les jeunes en quête d'aide dans les sites ACCESS; (2) comparer les temps d'attente pour le premier rendez-vous pour ceux qui s'auto-référencent par rapport à ceux utilisant d'autres voies. L'hypothèse était que l'auto-référencement serait associé à des temps d'attente plus courts pour le premier rendez-vous.

Méthodes: Les données sur les facteurs sociodémographiques, cliniques, les voies de référencement et l'utilisation des services ont été collectées via des dossiers, des formulaires d'auto-évaluation et des entretiens cliniques. Onze des quatorze sites ont été inclus dans les analyses; les sites exclus ne faisaient pas partie de l'étude de cohorte (n=2) ou n'ont pas collecté de données sur les issues clés (n=1). Une régression logistique multiple et un modèle de temps de défaillance accéléré, tous deux avec modélisation multiniveau, ont été utilisés pour investiguer les premier et deuxième objectifs, respectivement. Les modèles d'imputation multivariée par équations chaînées (MICE) ont été utilisés pour gérer les données manquantes.

Résultats: L'échantillon analytique comprenait 4 421 jeunes; 39 % des jeunes se sont auto-référés tandis que 61 % sont arrivés via d'autres voies de référencement. Les probabilités de s'autoréférencer étaient plus élevées pour chaque année supplémentaire (OR:1,10, IC à 95 %:1,06-1,14), pour ceux qui n'avaient pas de diplôme secondaire, par rapport à ceux qui étaient trop jeunes pour avoir un diplôme secondaire (OR:1,42, IC à 95 %:1,02-1,98); pour ceux qui avaient déjà été évalués dans les sites ACCESS, par rapport à ceux n'ayant jamais recherché/utilisé de services auparavant (OR:2,28, IC à 95 %:1,61-3.24), et pour chaque augmentation de 6 mois depuis la mise en œuvre d'ACCESS (OR:1,09, IC à 95 %:1,05-1,14). En revanche, les jeunes minoritaires sexuels et ceux ayant des difficultés fonctionnelles significatives étaient moins susceptibles de s'auto-référencer (OR:0,81, IC à 95 %:0,67-0,98 et OR:0,81, IC à 95 %:0,65-0,99, respectivement). L'auto-référencement n'était pas associé au sexe, à l'origine ethnique/culturelle, à l'engagement dans l'éducation, l'emploi ou la formation, à la présence d'un adulte de confiance, à la gravité des problèmes de santé mentale ou à la période avant ou après le début de la pandémie de COVID-19. En contrôlant pour ces facteurs sociodémographiques, cliniques et d'utilisation des services, l'auto-référencement était associé à une diminution du temps (en jours) entre le référencement et le premier rendez-vous (TR:0,70, IC à 95 %:0,65-0,76). Les analyses explicatives ont montré que c'est le temps impliqué dans le premier contact avec la source de référencement puis avec le jeune avant qu'un rendez-vous ne soit proposé qui est responsable de l'augmentation du temps entre le référencement et le premier rendez-vous pour ceux qui ne s'auto-référencent pas.

Conclusions: Plus d'un tiers des jeunes se sont auto-référés aux sites ACCESS et, comme hypothétiquement, ils avaient des temps d'attente plus courts pour un premier rendez-vous par rapport à ceux qui étaient référés par d'autres. Contrairement à ce qui a été théorisé, les groupes de jeunes plus vulnérables n'étaient soit pas plus susceptibles, soit, dans certains cas, moins susceptibles d'utiliser cette voie d'accès aux soins. La prise en charge remarquable de l'autoréférencement et son impact sur l'amélioration de la rapidité d'accès aux soins suggèrent que l'auto-référencement devrait rester une caractéristique de la réforme des services de santé mentale pour les jeunes. Cependant, les voies d'auto-référencement peuvent involontairement élargir les disparités dans l'accès rapide aux soins. Des travaux futurs devraient examiner pourquoi cette voie est utilisée de manière différenciée et promouvoir l'auto-référencement, en particulier parmi ceux qui sont moins susceptibles de l'utiliser, tout en réduisant les délais pour les rendez-vous des jeunes qui sont référés par d'autres.

Acknowledgments

I am deeply indebted to my co-supervisors, Dr. Rebecca Fuhrer and Dr. Srividya Iyer, who have guided and trained me since beginning my master's at McGill. They have both taken countless hours to help me academically, professionally, and personally. Words cannot express how grateful I am to have had such devoted, engaged, and supportive supervisors.

This endeavour would not have been possible without my committee member Dr. Shirin Golchi, who always made herself available to answer my numerous statistical questions. Her patience and expertise have been invaluable, and I am beyond grateful for her support.

I would also like to thank the members of the Youth Mental Health Collective (YMHC) at the Douglas Research Centre. The entire YMHC team, who were always willing to lend a helping hand, were integral to building many of my research competencies. I would particularly like to thank: Valérie Noel who familiarized me with the ACCESS Open Minds data, and devoted her time to helping me clean some of the key variables; Daniel Rabouin, who met with me countless times to troubleshoot and develop R codes (I attribute much of my growth in coding to him); Giuseppe D'Andrea whose statistical and clinical knowledge was integral to the completion of the thesis; Tovah Cowan, who was willing to answer any questions I had, review and develop R codes, and engage in conceptual discussions; and Sally Mustafa, who always showed an interest in my project and answered many of my research questions.

I would also like to thank my family and friends who have supported me through this entire journey. Through thick and thin you have been there for me, and I would have never achieved this without all of you. I appreciate and love you all. To Isla, Rhue, Sage, Duncan, Emmy, Tony, and Bernie: Thank you for always offering a listening ear, enduring countless study sessions, and forcing me to take breaks for walks. Furry friends truly are the best!

TABLE 1. IDENTIFIED ARTICLES FROM LITERATURE REVIEW INVESTIGATING DETERMINANTS OF
SELF-REFERRAL AND ITS IMPACT ON TREATMENT DELAYS (N=8)*
TABLE 2. PARTICIPANT CHARACTERISTICS UPON ENTRY TO ACCESS OPEN MINDS SITES *
TABLE 3. COMPARISON OF PARTICIPANT CHARACTERISTICS FOR THOSE WHO SELF-REFERRED AND
THOSE WHO DID NOT DURING THE FIRST 42 MONTHS OF PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION
TABLE 4. WAIT-TIME FROM REFERRAL TO FIRST APPOINTMENT: SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC AND CLINICAL
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SAMPLE (N=4421)
TABLE 5. ESTIMATED EFFECT OF SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC, CLINICAL, AND SERVICE USE FACTORS ON
REFERRAL SOURCE (N=4421)
TABLE 6. ESTIMATED EFFECT OF REFERRAL SOURCE, SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC, CLINICAL, AND SERVICE
USE FACTORS ON TIME FROM REFERRAL TO FIRST APPOINTMENT (N=4221) *97
TABLE 7. Estimated effect of referral source, sociodemographic, clinical, and service
USE FACTORS ON TIME FROM REFERRAL TO FIRST SUCCESSFUL CONTACT WITH YOUNG PEOPLE
(N=4421) *
TABLE 8. ESTIMATED EFFECT OF REFERRAL SOURCE, SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC, CLINICAL, AND SERVICE
USE FACTORS ON TIME FROM CONTACT WITH YOUNG PEOPLE TO FIRST OFFERED APPOINTMENT
(N=4421)*
TABLE 9. ESTIMATED EFFECT OF REFERRAL SOURCE, SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC, CLINICAL, AND SERVICE
USE FACTORS ON TIME FROM OFFERED APPOINTMENT TO FIRST APPOINTMENT (N=4421)* 103
TABLE S 1 DESCRIPTION OF CATEGORIES WITHIN THE (OTHER REPERD 41) CATEGORY 100
TABLE S 1. DESCRIPTION OF CATEGORIES WITHIN THE 'OTHER REFERRAL' CATEGORY

Table S 2. Missingness among all variables across the analytic sample (N=4421)..... 109

TABLE S 3. COMPARING PARTICIPANT CHARACTERISTICS FOR THOSE WITH COMPLETE DATE	TA FOR ALL
VARIABLES INVOLVED IN AIM I AND AIM II, RESPECTIVELY	111

List of Figures

FIGURE 1. FLOW CHART DESCRIBING STUDY SAMPLE AND ANALYZABLE SAMPLE
FIGURE 2. WAIT TIME FROM REFERRAL TO FIRST APPOINTMENT
FIGURE 3. KAPLAN MEIER CURVE DEPICTING THE PROBABILITY OF FIRST APPOINTMENT OVER TIME
STRATIFIED BY REFERRAL SOURCE.*
FIGURE S 1. PREDICTED MEDIAN WAIT TIME FROM REFERRAL TO FIRST APPOINTMENT BY REFERRAL
SOURCE AND CLINICAL GLOBAL IMPRESSIONS (CGI) SCORE* 114

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

ACCESS	ACCESS Open Minds
CI	Confidence interval
CIHR	Canadian Institute of Health Research
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - Fifth
	Edition
DUI	Duration of untreated illness
DUP	Duration of untreated psychosis
ER	Emergency room
IQR	Interquartile range
LGBQTIA2S+	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Queer and Questioning, Transgender and
	Trans, Intersex, Asexual or Agender, Two-spirited
MICE	Multivariate imputation by chained equations
N/A	Not applicable
N/A NEET	Not applicable Not in education, employment, or training
NEET	Not in education, employment, or training
NEET OR	Not in education, employment, or training Odds ratio

Introduction

In recent years, there have been growing calls in Canada and globally to invest in youth mental health (1, 2). While most mental disorders have their onset before the age of 25 (3) and early interventions are known to result in better outcomes for individuals and society (2), traditional mental health services have been criticized for being incapable of meeting the needs of young people (4, 5). These services often require that individuals meet diagnostic criteria, ignoring the distress and negative consequences associated with precursor signs and symptoms; are fragmented and siloed, making it difficult to obtain the entirety of care required; and are often developmentally inappropriate (4, 6). In the face of increasing rates of mental health and substance use problems among young people in many jurisdictions globally, the need for youth mental health service reform has grown (6). Such reform has typically focused on offering services across the age range of 11 to 25 years because it corresponds to the high-risk period for onset of mental health problems (3, 5) and prevents disruptive discontinuities in care between child-adolescent services that typically go on until age 16-18 and adult services that start after 16-18 (5, 7).

In response, the first Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research (SPOR) initiative was funded and ACCESS Open Minds (ACCESS), a youth mental health service network, was established (8). With 14 sites across Canada, ACCESS was designed by multiple stakeholders, including young people, to implement and evaluate a transformation to youth mental health services (8). The transformation involved outreach to increase referrals; rapid access to an initial evaluation (within 72 hours) and appropriate services (within a maximum of 30 days for non-urgent cases) in youth-friendly community/primary care settings; young people and family engagement in treatment decision-making and in designing

developmentally appropriate, LGBQTIA2S+ friendly, and culturally sensitive services; and no age-based transitions between the ages of 11 and 25 (8). Notably, ACCESS allowed referrals to come from any source, including self-referrals (8).

Self-referral pathways are theorized to improve accessibility to mental health services because they remove the requirement to involve service gatekeepers, particularly general practitioners (9). Incorporating such a route to care could also improve health equity by facilitating direct access to mental healthcare for young people; specifically, it may promote access for those who experience barriers presenting to or who have difficulty with obtaining a referral from a general practitioner (9). Research has found that certain youth groups, particularly transgender young people (10), are less likely to present to primary care and others, such as ethnic minority young people (11), are less likely to be referred to specialty mental health services by a general practitioner compared to their peers. Reducing the number of required contacts could also, in theory, reduce the duration of untreated illness, which has been associated with poorer prognosis, particularly for certain conditions including psychosis (12), eating disorders (13) and bipolar disorder (14).

In the face of calls to scale up self-referral pathways, it is imperative that this route to care be examined rigorously. A recent systematic review found that self-referral pathways to health services, including both physical and mental health services, could be increasing health inequalities as some groups are less likely to use these pathways (15). However, this study was not specific to youth populations or mental health services so further investigation is warranted.

Objective:

The objective of this thesis is to investigate the uptake of self-referral pathways to youth mental health services, as well as to examine whether there are differences in the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of young people using self-referral when compared to young people using other referral routes. A second objective is to study the impacts of a self-referral pathway in increasing timeliness of access to youth mental health services. It is hypothesized that self-referral would be associated with shorter wait times to the first appointment compared to other referral pathways. These two objectives are addressed using data from the ACCESS Open Minds project.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

This review of the literature provides relevant background knowledge about the nature of mental disorders, how they impact populations, and the systems in place to treat them. It emphasizes the importance of early intervention, the treatment gap that currently exists for young people and consequently the need for greater investment in youth mental health. Through examining current initiatives to improve youth mental health, it highlights the importance of referral sources and the theorized impact of open referral systems (which allow for self-referral). The review then explores what is known about the routes young people take to arrive at mental health services in practice and examines the determinants of referral sources. Concluding with a review of what is currently known about the use and impact of self-referral pathways for young people seeking mental health care, it identifies current gaps in knowledge and the need for further investigations.

1.1 Mental disorders and mental health systems

1.1.1 Defining mental disorders

Mental disorders, broadly characterized as syndromes resulting in clinically significant disruptions in one's emotional regulation, cognition, and/or behaviour, are typically associated with distress and difficulties with social, and/or occupational functioning and other activities of daily living (16). Estimated to affect most of the population to varying degrees within a lifetime (17), they currently make up 13% of disability-adjusted life years and 32% of years lived with disability globally (18). The etiology of these disorders is understood to be complex and involves an interplay between environmental and biological risk factors (19).

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - Fifth Edition (DSM-5) currently describes 20 types of disorders which themselves encompass over 200 diagnosable mental health conditions (16). With each disorder defined by its own characteristic pattern of signs and symptoms, this classification system was developed to help clinicians with identifying, planning, and treating mental health problems (16). However, it has been argued that diagnostic categories take a top-down approach, and that DSM-based cut-offs do not adequately account for either the overlapping nature of symptoms across diagnoses or the differences in symptom patterns among individuals within the same diagnostic groupings (19).

For many, precursor signs and symptoms are experienced prior to meeting diagnostic criteria for specific disorders; for others, similar signs and symptoms may never lead to the development of a diagnosable disorder (20). Regardless of whether threshold criteria are met, treating signs and symptoms can still be greatly beneficial, especially if subthreshold symptoms are associated with high levels of distress and impairments with functioning, which can often be the case (21). Left untreated, people may go on to develop major mental disorders, even those that are not strictly associated with the signs and symptoms with which they originally presented (22). For instance, only a minority of young people who are clinically-high-risk for psychosis go on to develop diagnosable psychotic disorders, but a much higher number develop other major mental disorders (23). Psychosocial and pharmacological interventions have been developed to delay or prevent the transition to threshold-level disorders (24). Beyond this objective, these interventions also aim to reduce distress and the severity, recurrence and persistence of symptoms, improve functioning, and promote well-being (25).

For those who do go on to develop a mental disorder, most will experience the onset before the age of 25 (26). For many, but not all individuals, the onset of mental disorders is often preceded

by a prodrome, the time between the onset of symptoms and meeting diagnostic criteria (20). The prodrome may differ across individuals and disorders (27) and the time at which it occurs may also vary; for instance, the prodrome for depressive and bipolar disorders typically occurs during young adulthood, while for anxiety and impulse control disorders, it often occurs during childhood (20). Most importantly, mental disorders are treatable, and many individuals who receive proper intervention meet criteria for symptom remission, i.e., a significant reduction in signs and symptoms that persists for a specified time period (20). Some will meet diagnostic criteria again post-remission (i.e., relapse), which may necessitate a recommencement of treatment or a change in treatment type or intensity (20).

Complicating matters further, mental disorders can be co-morbid, referring to the occurrence of at least two mental disorders at the same time. Some argue that comorbidity is the result of narrow diagnostic categories that do not account for the possibility that the co-occurrence is an entity of its own (28). Still comorbidities complicate the identification of underlying disorders and, consequently, treatment plans (29). Comorbidity can also occur between mental disorders and physical health conditions. In fact, a recent study from Canada found that approximately 8.4% of the population over 18 years old have a physical and mental health comorbidity (30).

1.1.2 Mental health systems

Mental health systems can be described as actions, people, and/or organizations whose expressed purpose is to promote, maintain, or restore the mental wellbeing of individuals (31). While these systems differ by country, especially depending on resource levels, they generally attempt to provide effective and appropriate interventions to those in need (31). For the most part, health services have been siloed, with physical and mental health conditions treated in different settings and by different providers (32). Globally, health expenditures have been concentrated on physical health problems, with monetary investments made for mental health being far lower (31). The proportion of money spent on mental health is country-dependent with large disparities in mental health care provisions, prevention, and health promotion programming between lowto-middle-income and high-income countries. Notably, a study of countries in the Americas, of various income statuses, found that across the board, the proportion of funds allocated to mental health is lower than the burden of disease attributable to mental disorders (33). In most parts of the world, funding for mental health care comes primarily from public or government agencies with only some out-of-pocket spending required (34). On the other hand, in some regions, private funding is relied upon, either due to the availability of more expensive treatments through private insurance, or the lack of public services, depending on the service (34). Most governmental spending, particularly in low to middle-income countries, is focused on inpatient or specialty mental health services (34). Across the public and private sector, mental health professionals, including psychiatrists, psychiatric nurses, psychologists, social workers, occupational therapists, psychoeducators, sexologists, and peer support workers, can provide an array of different treatments such as individual therapy, group therapy, pharmacotherapy, psychoeducation, case management, and educational or vocational support.

The design and delivery of mental health systems have changed over time. Historically, mental health services were, for the most part, delivered in inpatient hospital settings or asylums (35). While these systems treated a variety of patients with severe mental illnesses, they were likened to prisons which isolated patients from the outside world and stripped them of their autonomy (35, 36). By the mid-20th century, with the development of new treatments, particularly antipsychotic medications and therapeutic models that could be delivered without the need for

long-term hospitalizations, there was a move toward deinstitutionalization and a push for community-based care (35). Focusing not just on treatment, but also prevention and promotion, community mental health care was seen as a more recovery-oriented and cost-effective way to provide access to team- and evidence-based care while strengthening networks with the involvement of community members (37, 38). Community mental health services can also improve accessibly and may even reduce wait times for services (39). However, there has been some push back against the deinstitutionalization movement. Specifically, it has been argued that it has had adverse consequences for those with the most severe mental health problems and greatest mental health needs, who are now at increased risk of homelessness and incarceration (38). While this is true, in the presence of appropriate supports and adequate resources, community mental health services have proven to increase quality of life and satisfaction compared to hospital settings (40). For this reason, it has been argued that further investment should be made in community-based services (38).

Another area of evolution has been the distinction between child-adolescent versus adult mental health services. It was not until the late 19th century that it was recognized that children experience mental health problems and until the early 20th century, that child-adolescent mental health services were developed (41). It is now recognized that evidence-based practices may differ between children/adolescents and adults. Firstly, children/adolescents undergo rapid psychological, neurological, and physiological changes, which may impact the effectiveness of interventions and the durability of their effects (41). Also, family members have a much greater role in the identification, help-seeking, understanding, and treatment of mental health problems among younger populations (41). In fact, information from family members is often vital to diagnosing children and adolescents (41). Further, the planning and delivery of treatment also

vary between children/adolescents and adult populations. For example, school-based interventions are an important form of treatment for children and adolescents but are not applicable to adults (41). Due to these various differences, services have traditionally been divided between those for children/adolescents and those for adults. This division is usually determined using age cut-offs, typically 18 years old, depending on the service and country (42, 43).

In many countries, especially but not limited to low to middle-income countries, the lack of mental health professionals hinders the ability of child/adolescent and adult mental health services to meet public mental health needs (44). However, primary care can play a vital role in mental health service delivery (31) and, in many countries, it is the first point of contact for people seeking help for mental health or substance use problems (45). In fact, in many countries, including Canada and the United Kingdom, access to specialty mental health services requires a referral from a general practitioner (46). Considering primary care clinics treat physical illnesses, are integrated into communities, and allow for long-term follow up of patients, there are benefits to the delivery of mental health treatments in this setting (31). Yet, many general practitioners report feeling ill-equipped to handle the mental health needs of their patients and many people with mental health problems, who are seen by general practitioners, go undetected (47, 48). Even when mental health problems are identified and general practitioners refer patients, specialized services have long wait lists (1, 49), which is problematic because untreated mental health problems can become more severe and complex over time (50). To address this issue, integrated primary care clinics have been proposed as a viable solution. Under this model, mental health professionals are integrated into the primary care setting and collaborate with general

practitioners to provide timely, appropriate treatment (31). Integrated primary care has currently been implemented in countries like Australia, the United Kingdom, Ireland, and Canada.

1.2 Pathways to care for young people

In recent decades, there has been increasing recognition that mental health services targeting youth populations are necessary for reducing the burden of mental disorders (1, 2). In many low to middle-income countries, the number of young people has increased, while in high-income countries, the proportion of young people has decreased, meaning that the aging population is more dependent on younger people (51, 52). With the presence of modern medicine, the rates of physical illnesses have decreased in many places globally, especially in high-income countries, but mental health problems continue to pose a large threat to the health and productivity of young people (52, 53).

Occurring during an instrumental developmental period, the onset of mental disorders during youth may result in difficulties attaining important educational, occupational, and interpersonal milestones (52). They are the leading cause of disability-adjusted life years in high-income countries, and account for 25% of all years lived in disability for children and young people worldwide (54). Further, if they are left untreated, they may persist into adulthood, become more difficult to treat, and/or increase one's risk of developing comorbidities (50). Adolescence and young adulthood therefore present as a critical period in which early intervention strategies can be applied to prevent the exacerbation of mental health problems and the impact of associated consequences (55). While early interventions could have long-term positive impacts for both individuals and society, many young people do not access mental health services due to the

barriers they face when seeking mental health care (56). Those who try are often met with long wait times, resulting in unmet mental health needs or delayed treatment (57).

Help-seeking, the process of looking for help from formal (e.g., general practitioner) or informal (e.g., friend (s)) sources, involves problem identification, choosing to get help, deciding from whom to get help, and then actually accessing services (58). It has been argued that studying the people or organizations that young people contact while engaged in help-seeking (59), i.e., the pathway to care, may be pivotal to improving the timeliness of their service use (60).

For psychotic disorders, pathways to care have been studied to reduce the duration of untreated psychosis, i.e., the time from the onset of psychosis to the start of appropriate treatment (61). Work in this area can identify what barriers to care exist, where they occur, and how they impacted treatment delays, thus allowing for the development of targeted interventions (59). There has been growing interest to extend this approach to understanding and reducing the duration of untreated illness, i.e., time from symptom onset to the start of appropriate treatment (62), across the broader spectrum of mental health problems that young people experience (63, 64). This may be especially so, since findings from psychosis research may not be generalizable to other mental health problems due to differences in clinical presentation and severity. While investigations into the pathways to care for young people are still in their infancy, current available evidence suggests that young people face long, painful, and complicated pathways to care that involve multiple help-seeking contacts (59).

1.2.1 Barriers to care for young people

Barriers to care may occur at the individual level or at the systems level (65). Young people are known to experience numerous individual-level barriers to help-seeking, including poor mental

health literacy, internalized stigmatization, fear of a breach of confidentiality, and self-reliance (56). For psychosis, individual-level characteristics have been found to be more influential on help-seeking delays, the time from first symptom onset to the first mental health service contact, compared to referral delays, the time from making the first mental health service contact to obtaining appropriate services (66, 67).

Young people also disproportionately face barriers at the service level; child and adolescent mental health services are typically split across providers, programs, and even levels of government, which makes system navigation complex (2). With high service needs and lack of funding (56), many young people have difficulty accessing community-based services, which leads to the exacerbation of problems and the use of emergency department services (68). There are also issues regarding the discontinuity of care for young people transitioning from child/adolescent to adult mental health services as a result of age cut-offs in services (7). Even if a young person is referred to adult services, they are likely to experience developmentally inappropriate services that often do not accommodate sub-threshold mental health problems (69). Such system-level barriers have been found to influence referral delays (66). Given the impact that barriers to care have on treatment delays, it is vital that they are identified and addressed (61).

Young people who live in remote or rural areas, belong to sexual, gender, or ethnic minority groups, are Indigenous, are homeless, or are of low socio-economic status, not only experience the barriers mentioned above, but also additional barriers to care (70). For example, rural and remote areas are typically under-resourced and lack specialty services, which limits service use for the young people living there (71). Even when they are available, distance to services, and the need for appropriate transportation and associated costs, impact accessibility (72). Sexual and

gender minority young people may have difficulty finding appropriate services that understand their identities and may be fearful of experiencing harassment or discrimination within mental health services (70, 73). Indigenous (74, 75) and ethnic minority (76) young people also have more difficulty obtaining culturally sensitive services and may experience medical mistrust as a result of systemic racism (77). Homeless young people have reported difficulties with obtaining friendly services that involve them in decision-making and accommodate their transient locations (70). Young people who are socio-economically disadvantaged may experience logistical barriers such as having the time to seek help, finding transportation to services, and difficulty paying for needed services (78). While these represent some examples of additional challenges in accessing mental health care that specific youth groups can experience, it is important to remember that identities often intersect (e.g., a young person may be homeless and an ethnic, gender, and sexual minority). Young people with intersectional identities may experience increased vulnerability and barriers to care, which complicates service access and engagement (79, 80). The various barriers some youth groups experience when seeking services may result in higher rates of unmet need (70, 81-84).

1.2.2 Key help-seeking contacts and barriers to mental health care in high-income countries

Examinations of help-seeking contacts have revealed that young people are not the only ones who experience barriers; many of the individuals and organizations that they go to for help have difficulties assisting them in obtaining appropriate care (85). Complicating matters further, help-seeking behaviours are also influenced by sociodemographic, clinical, and cultural characteristics, which means that the routes young people take while seeking services vary greatly (59, 60, 86, 87).

Parents play a particularly important role in young people's help-seeking journeys. They are often the first to notice a problem or one of the first "informal" contacts with whom a problem is discussed (88-90). Not only are they critical to problem identification, but they have been found to be the strongest influence on accessing mental health care (91). They also often engage in help-seeking on behalf of their young family members (59). However, parents have reported difficulties identifying what constitutes a mental health problem worthy of intervention versus normal adolescent behaviour (92). Some do not know where to obtain services or may experience self-blame or stigma, contributing to struggles to obtain appropriate services for their children (93). While parents may remain influential, with variations by culture, younger children and teenagers rely more on these contacts due to their developmental stage and associated lack of autonomy (88, 89, 94).

With school being mandatory in most countries until approximately the age of 16, teachers and school counselors are another common help-seeking contact for young people (88, 95). After parents, they are often the first adults to identify indicators of mental health problems, including poor academic performance (96, 97). Mental health services are sometimes delivered in schools (school-based mental health services); these services are theorized to help overcome common barriers for young people, including stigma, and to improve access for traditionally underserved groups (98). Yet, some disparities in access have been found based on ethnicity (99-101). These studies are limited in number, generalizability, and in their ability to comment on reasons for these disparities, requiring further investigation (102). Some hypothesized reasons for these disparities include differences in youth help-seeking behaviours, subtypes of mental health symptoms, comfort with seeking services delivered in schools, as well as racially or culturally biased problem identification and referral (101-103). Schools have also been cited as important

contacts and sources of referral for offsite mental health services (104-106). However, teachers report lack of training and knowledge, fear of making things worse, insufficient funding, and availability of onsite mental health services as barriers to helping students on their pathway to care (107, 108).

General practitioners are a common first point of contact for help-seeking young people (59, 88). As previously mentioned, mental health service delivery in primary care is advantageous due to its ability to provide accessible care within communities, monitor mental health problems over a longer timeframe, and reduce stigmatization associated with seeking care from a specialist (31). Primary care settings are often within communities and may be more accessible. These environments can also be less stigmatizing, in part as they are primarily associated with the treatment of physical health problems. Unfortunately, while they are often the first point of professional contact, they are less frequently the referral source (59). General practitioners have reported feeling ill-equipped to identify and handle the mental health needs of young people (109), who may sometimes present with symptoms manifesting as physical health problems (110). While advocacy from parents has been shown to increase referrals to specialty services from general practitioners, parents are not always involved in help-seeking pathways (48). Lack of knowledge, time, and confidence in dealing with mental health problems, long wait lists for specialty services, and insurance and reimbursement restrictions (specific to the United States) represent key barriers to care for general practitioners (109, 111). This can be problematic under the gatekeeper model since general practitioners are relied upon heavily for referrals to specialty services. In psychosis, one study found that contact with a general practitioner is associated with longer referral delays (87), while some other evidence has found it is associated with shorter duration of untreated psychosis (112, 113). Outside of psychosis, one study found that contact

with a general practitioner was associated with longer duration of untreated illness (114) and another found it to be associated with longer wait times to services (115). Research has also found that ethnic and gender minority young people as well as those with greater distress are less likely to obtain referrals through their general practitioners compared to other sources (11, 116). This may become a source of health inequity, especially since, those who do not obtain care through general practitioners may be more likely to come into contact with services through more 'negative' routes (11, 87).

One such negative pathway is the emergency department and/or hospital (87). This help-seeking contact may represent an inability to obtain appropriate mental health care within the community (49) or the experience of more acute mental health problems (68). Though they are associated with shorter treatment delays (115), emergency departments and hospitals are also associated with high costs to health systems (49, 59) as well as poor satisfaction (117, 118) and worse service engagement (87). Young people have also described these services as traumatic (78). Experiences with coercive measures, abrupt quick diagnoses, and stigmatizing staff, who are not sensitive or trained in mental health presentations, have been reported by young people (117, 119, 120). With a lack of personnel specializing in youth mental health and screening tools applicable to this population, emergency departments are not always able to formulate appropriate treatment plans (121, 122). When attempting to refer young people to more appropriate services, lack of knowledge of community services for young people presents a large barrier (121, 122). Studies also report differences by ethnicity in the use of the emergency department/ hospital for mental health; one study in the United States identified that non-Hispanic-Black young people were more likely to have contact with emergency departments compared to non-Hispanic-White young people (90). A Canadian study found that emergency

services were more often the first contact for Asian young people or those of another ethnicity compared to White or Black young people (123). Another negative pathway into care is the legal or criminal justice system (87). This route is often associated with compulsory admissions and inpatient, as opposed to outpatient, mental health service referrals (124). One study from the United Kingdom found that ethnic minority young people were between two to six times more likely to arrive at specialty mental health services through this pathway compared to their White peers (124).

1.3 Open referral systems and self-referral

Acknowledging the importance of early intervention and the extant treatment delays for young people as a result of barriers to care, the last two decades have seen transformations to mental health systems in countries such as Australia (e.g., Headspace) (125), Ireland (e.g., Jigsaw) (126), and Canada (e.g., ACCESS Open Minds) (8). The application of a variety of strategies to increase service uptake for young people has been proposed and implemented. For example, creating youth mental health services targeting the entire age range of 11 to 25 years is theorized to improve continuity of care for young people who age out of child-adolescent services (8). These services may also be more developmentally appropriate for young adults than adult services (5). Providing services with a single point of access is thought to simplify mental health system navigation since a variety of mental health services can be obtained through one point of contact (5). Integrating mental health services into primary care allows for mental health services to be community-based and in less stigmatizing environments (31). It may also increase early detection and allow for long-term follow up of patients (31). Under this collaborative care model, in which multiple service providers may provide care to the same individual, general practitioners are not left unsupported and may engage in task sharing, leading to better patient

outcomes (127). The integration of other services such as vocational, occupational, housing, and financial services allows for a holistic approach to treatment and can promote wellbeing (128). In the spirit of early intervention, accepting young people into services irrespective of the type or severity of the mental health problem allows for promotion, prevention, and treatment efforts to occur within the same context (129). Further, youth and family involvement in the design and creation of services ensures that services are offered in youth-friendly spaces which may increase uptake (88).

A key consistent feature of youth mental health service reform is an open referral system, in other words, a system that allows referrals from both formal (e.g., general practitioners) and informal (e.g., family) sources, including the young person themselves (self-referral) (9, 129). Removing the need for gatekeepers, this intervention is thought to improve timely access to care, especially for those less likely to present to or be detected by a general practitioner (9). It can also help with reducing stigmatization through decreasing the medical view of mental health problems (129, 130). However, open referral systems have been criticized for increasing the number of "false positives" (i.e., referrals from those who may not need formal services or the offered formal services) (15, 130, 131). Specifically, there is fear that, in the absence of a gatekeeper, those who require services least may over burden mental health systems. However, some evidence has demonstrated that open referral systems are more sensitive to the needs of patients and can promote access for those less likely to obtain a referral through a general practitioner (15, 131, 132).

With respect to self-referral, some studies, conducted on adult populations, have also found that the experience of referring oneself can be overwhelming for those of low socioeconomic status and with more severe mental health problems (133). A recent systematic review investigating

self-referral pathways across a variety of health care settings, including physical and mental health, found that self-referrals may increase health inequities (15). Specifically, trends demonstrated that younger white women with higher education and those from less deprived backgrounds were more likely to refer themselves than other groups (15). While this is of concern, especially when there have been calls to scale up self-referral pathways, only six of the nineteen included studies looked at mental health service use and of these, only one focused on young people (15). The authors also concluded that the impact of self-referral on health inequities exist when targeted effectively (15). They also note that self-referral could be particularly beneficial in mental health services where detection of mental health problems can be low in primary care (15, 130). Thus, further investigation into the use of the self-referral pathway by young people accessing mental health services is warranted.

1.3.1 Determinants of self-referral and its relation to treatment delays

Using Medline via OVID, a search was conducted on 8 November 2022. Broad search terms were used to identify all relevant records that discuss self-referrals, especially since the terminology for this route to care can differ by article (e.g., self-referral, referred themselves, came themselves, walked in, etc.). Search terms used included youth populations (i.e., youth, or young people or adolescent, or young adult); mental health services (i.e., mental health service or mental health services) and routes to or experiences with entering services (i.e., referral or pathway to care or service level barriers or barriers to access). This search resulted in the identification of 958 articles where title and abstract screening was conducted first, followed by full-text screening. Initial inclusion criteria were (1) the examination of individuals between the ages of 0-30, (2) the mention of a mental health service (including emergency departments), (3)

the examination of the association between at least one sociodemographic clinical characteristic and the referral source or the association between the referral source and wait times for services. Note that while the operational definition of young people/youth for this thesis was 11–25 years, the search was extended to an upper limit of 30 years old to capture the various definitions of youth that may exist in the literature, in line with the approach taken by MacDonald et.al. (2018). After title and abstract screening, 115 articles were identified on which full-text screening was conducted. A more restrictive set of inclusion criteria were then applied, requiring articles to have evaluated determinants of self-referral routes specifically or their impact on wait times to care. Qualitative studies and reviews were excluded. This resulted in the identification of seven relevant articles. This review was updated on 15 March 2024, using handsearching with one additional record included.

Eight studies were identified that examined determinants of and/or wait times associated with self-referral (see Table 1). Of the eight articles, three were conducted in the United Kingdom, two in the United States, one in Sweden, one in Canada, and one in Australia. The services which allowed self-referral included: a community-based mental health service (N=1), child and adolescent mental health services (N=4), and specialty mental health services (N=3). In three papers, self-referral was analyzed along with parent referrals, but these were still included as they had defined self-referral as being a referral from the person themselves, or the parent/caregiver (9, 11, 134). Articles that only examined parent referrals and did not mention self-referral (106, 135), excluded self-referrals from analyses due to the small number of young people using this route (124), or that did not analyze it independently of other routes to care (136-139) were not included in this review (i.e., these study types are not a part of the eight studies). Only one of the studies explicitly defined self-referral; in this case, self-referral meant

the referral came from the young person themselves regardless of prior help-seeking (140). For example, even if the young person was guided to the service by their parent, if they made contact themselves, it was considered a self-referral (140).

Six of the eight studies examined the determinants of self-referral, three of which explicitly aimed to investigate self-referral pathways. Demographic characteristics examined included: migrant status (n=2), age (n=3), sex (n=4), gender (n=1), ethnicity (n=2), area-level deprivation (n=2), problem type (n=2), previous service use (n=1), contextual factors related to the problem (n=1), living arrangement (n=1), parental status (n=1), and occupational status (n=1). The two studies that investigated migrant status, conducted in Australia and Sweden, had conflicting results. These studies used univariate analyses to investigate differences in selfreferral pathway use. The Australian study by O'Donoghue et al. (2022) found that there were differences in referral source between Australian-born and migrant young people at a service for young people with ultra-high risk for psychosis. This association did not hold when migrant groups were stratified at the continental level (as opposed to looking at the total migrant population), but this could have been due to low sample size. More Australian-born young people self-referred compared to migrants (6.3% vs. 1.7%). But the authors did not conduct post hoc analyses to examine which referral sources differed from each other in terms of proportions of young people using them, so no conclusions about self-referral were made. The authors did comment on Australian-born young people being more likely to come to the Personal Assessment and Crisis Evaluation service via other mental health services and more migrant young people coming via community health services since the proportion of young people referred by these sources differed greatly between the migrants and Australian-born groups (140). On the other hand, the Swedish study by Ramirez et al. (2009) found that there were no
demographic differences between those who self-referred and those who were referred by a nonpsychiatrist professional (141).

One of the three studies examining the association between self-referral and age found conflicting evidence within different regions in the United Kingdom. Specifically, Rock et al. (2020) conducted univariate analyses and found that in Buckinghamshire, there was no difference in the age of those who self-referred compared to those referred by a general practitioner to child and adolescent mental health services; in Oxfordshire, younger youth were more likely to self-refer (9). The only age difference observed in Buckinghamshire was that younger self-referrers were more likely to be rejected from obtaining services compared to older self-referrers (9). The same study from Sweden that examined immigration status, by Ramirez et al. (2009), found no differences in age at assessment comparing young people arriving via self-referral versus via non-psychiatrist professionals (i.e., psychiatric services, general practitioner, school mental health service, other mental health professionals) (141). A different study conducted in the United Kingdom by Edbrooks-Childs et al. (2019), which examined age differences using adjusted multinominal logistic regression with multilevel modelling, found that, 13-25-year-olds were more likely to self-refer compared to 6-12-year-olds (11).

Four of the five studies examined sex/gender differences in self-referral pathway use, three of which relied on univariate analyses to draw conclusions. Across these studies, only one study, conducted in the United States, by Neill. et al. (1977) found that females were more likely to refer themselves (134). The other studies, by Ramirez et al. (2009), Edbrooks-Childs et al. (2019), and Rock et al. (2020) found no sex differences in self-referral pathway use (9, 11, 141). Rock et al. (2020) also looked at the proportion of self-referred young people accepted into services and found that males who self-referred to child/adolescent mental health services in

Buckinghamshire were more likely to be rejected when self-referring, compared to females (9). A sixth study, by Eamon et al. (2019) used univariate analyses to compare referral pathways of cisgender males, cisgender females, transgender clients and gender diverse clients in a community-based youth mental health service (116). Comparing the proportion of clients referred by family/friends, health care providers, or themselves, Eamon et al. found that transgender clients and, subsequently gender diverse clients, were more likely to self-refer compared to cisgender males and cisgender females. When collapsing cisgender males and cisgender females into one category and comparing them to gender diverse clients, gender diverse clients were still more likely to self-refer. Finally, running the same analysis, comparing gender conforming and gender diverse young people, but this time comparing self-referral to other referral, with family/friend and health care provider collapsed into "other", gender diverse young people were more likely to self-refer.

Two studies conducted in the United Kingdom looked at the association of self-referral pathways with both ethnicity and area-level deprivation, one using only univariate analyses (Rock et al., 2020) and the other using multivariate analyses. Rock et al. (2020) found that in both Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire, White British young people self-referred more than other young people (other ethnicities were not specified) who more often were referred by a general practitioner. Furthermore, young people coming from less deprived areas were more likely to self-refer than come via a general practitioner to child/adolescent mental health services in Oxfordshire. There were no differences found in referral source by area-level deprivation in Buckinghamshire but, among those who did self-refer, people from more deprived areas were more likely to be rejected from receiving services (9). Edbrooks-Childs et al. (2019) adjusted for sex, age, problem type and contextual factors and found that young people from Black, Asian,

and other ethnic minority groups were less likely to self-refer and more likely to be referred by primary care compared to their White, British peers. A sensitivity analysis adding area-level deprivation did not yield different conclusions. However, those from the most deprived areas were more likely to self-refer than be referred by a general practitioner, compared to those coming from the least deprived areas (11).

Edbrooks-Childs et al. (2019) also found that those with unclassified problem types had higher odds of self-referral (versus primary care referral) when compared to those with only one problem rated by clinician as being of moderate severity (11). Ramirez et al. (2009) found that those with any mood disorder were more likely to self-refer as opposed to being referred by a non-psychiatrist professional, while adjusting for the presence of any anxiety disorder, any eating disorder, and previous contact with mental health services. The findings from these studies point to the potential impact of problem type on self-referral pathway use. In the Edbrooks-Childs et al. study, those with no previous contact with mental health services were also more likely to self-refer in multivariate analyses (11). In univariatre analyses, there were no differences in living arrangements, parental status, or occupational status between those who self-referred and those who came via non-psychiatric professional referrals (141).

Among the two studies identified that looked at the influence of self-referral pathways on treatment delay, one (Ebrooke-Childs et al., 2020) examined wait times to initial assessment in child and adolescent mental health services in the United Kingdom and the other (Marino I., et al., 2019) looked at help-seeking duration of untreated psychosis (time from onset of psychosis to the first mental health service contact) in a coordinated specialty care program for psychosis in the United States. In the first study, the odds of waiting, 3-4 weeks, 5-18 weeks or over 18 weeks, compared to 0-2 weeks, for those who self-referred vs came in via a general practitioner

referral was investigated, adjusting for: area level deprivation, age, gender, ethnicity, contextual factors and mental health problem severity. This study found that self-referral was associated with shorter wait times; although, the odds of self-referral did not differ for those who waited over 18 weeks compared to 0-2 weeks (115). A bivariate regression conducted in the second study, found no difference in help-seeking delay for those who self-referred compared to those who came via a significant other, mental health provider, or other source. Self-referral was associated with longer delays when compared to family and teacher referrals. However, this finding did not hold in a multivariable model, where the authors employed backward selection (142).

1.3.2 Research gaps

Self-referral pathways to care are increasingly being allowed in youth mental health services and are seen as a feature of reform to improve accessibility. However, quantitative investigations on the determinants of this referral source as well as its impact on wait times to care remain limited. Of note, some authors of previous studies were unable to conduct analyses on self-referral routes because of low cell size. In these instances, some chose to exclude these participants from analyses entirely (124), while others analyzed them with other referral sources, making it impossible to come to independent conclusions about this route to care (136, 137, 139, 143). Limited available research and conflicting findings among the six articles that analyzed determinants of self-referral pathways make it difficult to arrive at conclusions about the accessibility of this route. Partly, this is because pathways to care are context-dependent and these studies were conducted with different study samples, in different countries, and across various services. Various other factors like varying definitions and the nature of methods used also impede our ability to draw inferences about self-referral pathways. Only one of the included

studies was conducted in Canada, which makes it difficult to understand how this pathway to care is used in the Canadian context.

Extant records compared self-referral to different referral sources; while the majority compared this route to general practitioners or primary care referrals, some only looked at differences in the proportion using this pathway and compared it to a wider range of sources (e.g., family, friends, significant others, teachers, any non-psychiatric mental health professional). Differences in the way that self-referral was defined also increases the heterogeneity of these articles, with some studies grouping self with family referrals and others examining it on its own. Since young people rely more heavily on their parents and friends compared to adult populations, examining them together may make sense. However, age is known to attenuate the involvement of parents or friends in the help-seeking process (88) and self-referrals may improve access for those who are less likely to involve others in their help-seeking, including parents (144, 145). Gender and sexual minority young people in particular could benefit from self-referral since fear of parental involvement and disclosure can be barriers to care in this population (146). Findings from Eamon et al. (2019) support the potential importance of self-referral for gender diverse groups who were more likely to self-refer compared to gender conforming young people (116). Further, even when parents are involved in help-seeking, disagreements on where and when to seek help may present as a barrier to care for some young people (91). These factors suggest a separate examination of self-referrals, defined as young people referring themselves, is needed.

The available literature was also limited in its use of statistical methodology. All but two of the eight studies exclusively conducted univariate analyses which, may highlight differences between groups but is incapable of examining the independent effects of more than one variable. More robust analyses are thus needed to draw more rigorous conclusions.

Only two studies evaluating the impact of self-referral pathways on treatment delays were identified. The first study evaluated the association between self-referral and the time from referral to initial assessment. However, this study was limited in that it only compared self-referral to general practitioner referrals. The second study examined the association between referral sources and the help-seeking duration of untreated psychosis. Yet, patients with psychosis may be different from those with other mental health problems in problem identification and previous service use.

Overall, our understanding of the use of self-referral pathways by young people is very limited. Studies have thus far focused on referral to specialized mental health services and have heavily relied on simple statistical analyses to make conclusions about determinants of its use. Further, the use of self-referral pathways among many young people who are known to have difficulty accessing mental health services has yet to be studied; namely, sexual minority, gender minority, socio-economically disadvantaged, and Indigenous young people. By addressing this gap in knowledge, a better understanding of the impact of self-referral pathways can be obtained, particularly, whether it improves access to services for young people who have been traditionally underserved and if it can improve wait times to care. Investigations may also help identify whether such a route is increasing health inequities. For example, if it is found that self-referrals improve wait times to care but are less likely to be used by certain groups, this could be a health inequity that should be addressed. Chapter 2: Study context and objectives

ACCESS is a pan-Canadian youth mental health network funded as Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR)'s first Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research (SPOR) initiative to develop, implement, and evaluate a transformation of youth mental health services (147). With 14 sites across the country, one in the Northwest Territories, two in Alberta, one in Saskatchewan, one in Ontario, five in Quebec, three in New Brunswick, and one in Nova Scotia, ACCESS comprised linguistically, geographically, and culturally diverse communities with varying resource availability (147). These sites are located in six urban, two rural, and six Indigenous communities (147).

Previous publications have described the ACCESS service transformation model and study protocol in detail (8, 147). Briefly, ACCESS incorporated five key components into its transformation: early identification to increase referrals; rapid access to increase timeliness of the initial evaluation; appropriate care to increase provision of timely, developmentally and clinically appropriate care; the elimination of age-based transitions between services, and the engagement of young people and their families to increase acceptability of and engagement in services. ACCESS offered a range of services to young people, between the ages of 11-25 years old, irrespective of diagnosis or symptom severity. Once a referral was received, ACCESS aimed to offer young people an appointment within 72 hours for an initial evaluation with a non-physician professional, trained to both respond to help-seeking and evaluate young people with diverse needs (*henceforth referred to as the first appointment*). It then aimed to provide service(s) that were developmentally appropriate, culturally sensitive, and responded to young people's presenting problems and preferences within 30 days of the first appointment. Co-designed by multiple stakeholders, including young people, their families, Indigenous

communities, researchers, and decision makers, ACCESS operated out of and advertised youth friendly primary care or community-based spaces. It also accepted referrals from any source, including self-referrals.

The objectives of the proposed study are to (1) compare the socio-demographic and clinical characteristics associated with self-referral versus other referral routes, among help seeking young people presenting to ACCESS sites; and (2) compare wait times to first appointment between young people who were self-referred and those who arrived via other referral routes to ACCESS sites.

Chapter 3: Methods

3.1 Study design and data source

This prospective cohort study uses data collected from 11 of the 14 sites in the original ACCESS network between March 2016 and December 2020 (147). Of the 14 sites, two sites in Inuit contexts, that were part of the ACCESS network, chose not to participate in the cohort study as they felt the evaluation protocol was not suited to their contexts. An additional site was excluded because data on key outcomes were not collected, and the sample size was small (n=30). All young people, between the ages of 11-25 years old, seeking help for a mental health or substance-related problem at ACCESS were eligible to receive services and to be included in the study (147). Young people who received services at a site before its transformation were eligible if they had not received any services for six months or longer.

Data collection began at the young person's first appointment and ended once they stopped attending ACCESS. The length of participant follow-up varied based on individual needs. Selfreport forms, clinical interviews, and records were used to obtain relevant participant information (147). Additionally, the sites recorded the number of young people referred to them each month. The number of initial evaluations or the number of consented young people was used as a proxy when the number of referrals was missing.

3.2 Ethics approval

Ethics approval for the present study was obtained from the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences at McGill University. The larger ACCESS service evaluation study acquired ethics approval from the Research Ethics Board of the Douglas Mental Health University Institute, as well as from local research ethics and Indigenous community bodies. Also, guidelines for Research Involving the First Nations, Inuit and Métis Peoples of Canada from the Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans and the Ownership, Control, Access and Possession principles were followed. Additional details regarding ethical considerations for the larger study have been previously published in the protocol for the larger study (147).

3.3 Study sites and participants

Between March 2016 and December 2020, 7,889 young people were referred to one of the 11 ACCESS sites included in the study. Of the 7,889 young people, 5,199 received an initial evaluation and were included in the cohort study. The sites were not implemented at the same time, which resulted in different durations of follow-up. Since most sites had 42 months of follow up, the sample data used in the analyses (*referred to as analytical sample hereafter*) was restricted to those participants who came to ACCESS in the first 42 months of program implementation. The analytical sample included 4,421 participants (see Figure 1).

3.4 Variables of interest

3.4.1 Referral source

Trained professionals recorded the referral source as one of the following categories: 'Doctor/Nurse', 'Friend', 'Family member', 'School counselor/Teacher', 'Saw the clinic', 'Website', 'Advertising', 'Social media (e.g., Facebook, Twitter)', 'Someone who received services here', 'Kids Help Phone' (a well-known pan-Canadian youth-targeting mental healthfocused helpline), 'Community organization', 'Social worker', 'Self-referred', or 'Other'. Those who selected 'Family member' or 'Other' could further specify the referral source with a write-in (i.e., writing in the response instead of choosing one of the provided options).

Data cleaning and harmonization was completed with ongoing supervision, guidance, and inputs from Dr. Rebecca Fuhrer and Dr. Srividya Iyer, who have been involved in ACCESS from the inception of the project and have years of experience in mental health research. Write-ins were used to re-categorize the response from 'Other' into more specific categories on the list. In certain instances, it was clear that the response should have been selected from a previously established category such as 'Self-referred' or 'School counsellor/Teacher'. However, some write-ins did not fit into any of the pre-defined categories (e.g., 'Hospital'). In the latter circumstance, if the write-in occurred frequently enough, an additional category was created. The following additional categories were created based on these write-ins: 'ACCESS Open Minds (any person who works at or for ACCESS)', 'Primary healthcare setting', 'Secondary healthcare setting', 'Tertiary healthcare setting' (excluding hospitals and emergency departments), 'Law enforcement', 'Emergency department or hospital', and 'Employment, social services and child welfare'. In some instances, write-ins could fit into multiple categories. For example, a write-in specifying that the referral source was a doctor from a community organization could be categorized as either 'Doctor/Nurse' or 'Community organization'. Since the majority of writeins specified the setting of the referral (e.g., community organization) over the person the referral was received from (e.g., doctor), categorizations prioritized setting over person.

Once these additional categories were established, the categories were combined. 'Website', 'Social media', and 'Saw the clinic' were combined under 'Self-referred' since these represented channels through which young people became aware of the service and then came in on their own. Those who selected 'Someone who received services here', 'Friend', or 'Family' were

collapsed into one category labelled 'Family/Friend' since there was overlap between these categories. 'Kids Help Phone' (a Canadian telephone, text-based and online support with whom ACCESS partnered) was integrated into the 'Other' category due to the small cell size. Finally, those whose write-in indicated a post-secondary institution were integrated under 'School counsellor/Teacher', but to make the label more representative of the category it was re-named 'Educational institution'.

To check the validity of our referral source categories, data from the questions 'How did the referral source hear about ACCESS' and 'How did the referral source contact ACCESS' were then investigated. Similar to the referral source question, research assistants could select: 'Doctor/Nurse', 'Friend', 'Family member', 'School counselor/Teacher', 'Saw the clinic', 'Website', 'Advertising', 'Social media', 'Someone who received services here', 'Kids Help Phone', 'Community organization', 'Social worker', 'Self-referred', or 'Other'. However, unlike the referral source question, participants could specify from whom the referral source heard about ACCESS, if they had selected 'Community organization', 'Social worker', 'Self-referred', or 'Other'. Some research assistants provided more details about the referral source in these write-ins, which changed the categorization of the referral source. For example, if the referral source was a social worker, and the write-in for how the referral source heard about ACCESS mentioned that said social worker works in a CLSC (the primary care clinic in Quebec), the referral source was recoded to 'Primary healthcare setting'. Similarly, write-ins for how the referral source contacted ACCESS sometimes provided more information which changed the referral source categorization.

After going through this process, the following categories were established for referral source: 'Doctor/Nurse', 'Friend/Family member', 'Educational institution', 'Community organization',

'Social worker', 'Self-referred', 'ACCESS Open Minds', 'Primary healthcare setting', 'Secondary healthcare setting' or 'Tertiary healthcare setting', 'Law enforcement', 'Emergency department or hospital', 'Employment, social services and child welfare', or 'Other'. Acknowledging that there was still considerable overlap between these categories, they were collapsed further (see Table 7 in the supplement for descriptions/examples of each category). Thus, for the purpose of analysis, in line with the first research aim (Aim I), self-referrals were compared to all other referral types and a binary, self-versus-other referral variable was created. Only referrals directly from young people were classified as 'Self-referred'.

3.4.2 Wait time

The date of referral (i.e., the first time the young person or some other referral source contacted the ACCESS site for help), the date of the ACCESS staff first successfully contacting the young person, the date of the first offered appointment and the date of the first appointment were recorded on the initial contact form completed by the evaluating clinician. Wait time to a first appointment, the main outcome for the second research aim (Aim II), was calculated in days as the time between the date of the referral to an ACCESS site and the date of the first appointment. The time (in days) to first appointment can be broken down into the following components: the time between the date of referral to an ACCESS site and the date of the first successful contact with young people; the time between the date of the first successful contact with young people and the date of the first offered appointment; and the time between the first offered appointment and the actual appointment. Figure 2 displays all relevant dates, in order of occurrence, as well as the associated wait times of interest to this study.

3.4.3 Sociodemographic characteristics

Socio-demographic factors were obtained via self-report, using a form that was informed by prior research and Canadian population surveys, and refined with inputs from young people. The following variables were of interest to this study: age, gender, ethnic and cultural origins, sexual orientation, presence of a reliable adult, ability to meet basic expenses, age-adjusted educational attainment, and engagement in education, employment, or training.

Age at first appointment was calculated by subtracting the year of birth from the year of the first appointment. For the analyses, age was considered a continuous variable.

Young people could indicate their gender identity under one of the following categories: 'Trans woman', 'Woman (cis woman)', 'Trans man', 'Man (cis man)', 'Genderfluid', 'I don't identify with these options, specify if desired', or 'Prefer not to answer'. Those who selected: 'Trans woman', 'Trans man', 'Gender fluid', 'I don't identify with these options', and 'Prefer not to answer' were combined into the larger category 'Gender diverse', in line with previous research. While it is recognized that these groups have distinct identities and experiences, the relatively small number of young people in each of these categories did not allow for a more nuanced investigation of gender. Furthermore, the groups included in this larger gender diverse category may experience some common barriers to mental health service access, such as fear of discrimination (148). 'Prefer not to answer' and 'I don't identify with these options, specify if desired' were included in 'Gender diverse' since the sample size was small and it was decided that those who selected these categories should not be treated as a non-response. Treating these participants as non-response would have resulted in a loss of information and there may have been key differences between those missing data completely versus though who did not want to

answer the question. Further, it is possible that non-cisgender young people selected this response because they only identify as male or female, instead of 'Trans woman', 'Trans man', or 'Gender fluid' (149). Many of the write-ins from 'I don't identify with these options, specify if desired' responses indicated that this was the case.

The 'Ethnic and cultural origins' variable was created using two questions. The first asked young people if they were Indigenous and if so, if they were 'First Nations status', 'First Nations nonstatus', 'Métis, Inuk (Inuit)', or 'Other', as per statistics Canada (150). The next part of the question asked young people to select the categories that best described them among: 'Arab', 'Black', 'Chinese', 'Filipino', 'Japanese', 'Korean', 'Latin American', 'South Asian', 'Southeast Asian', 'West Asian', 'White', or 'Other'. These questions were designed by ACCESS to categorize the young people into either 'Indigenous', 'Visible minority', or 'White', as was done by Statistics Canada's National Household Survey in 2011 (151). Any young person who either selected 'Indigenous' and/or who came from one of the four First Nations sites based in reserves that served only young people from the community was categorized as 'Indigenous'. Following Statistis Canada's procedures, and as has been done by multiple previous Canadian studies, young people who only selected 'White' were categorized as such, while those who selected categories other than 'White' (but not Indigenous) were categorized as 'Visible Minority' (151). Those who selected multiple ethinicities (but not Indigenous) were also categorized as 'Visible Minority'.

Sexual orientation was assessed with the question 'Which of the following best describes your sexual orientation?'. Young people could either select: 'Asexual', 'Bisexual', 'Gay', 'Heterosexual or straight', 'Lesbian', 'Not sure', 'Questioning', 'Queer', 'Two-spirited', 'Prefer not to answer this question', or 'Other (specify if desired)'. Those who selected 'Asexual',

'Bisexual', 'Gay', 'Lesbian', 'Not sure', 'Questioning', 'Queer', 'Two-spirited', 'Prefer not to answer this question', or 'Other' were collapsed into the larger category 'Sexually diverse'. Similar to the gender variable, this decision was made both because these groups may experience similar barriers when accessing mental health care (152) and there was a small number of young people in each of the categories comprising the sexually diverse category.

Two questions from the sociodemographic form could be used as a proxy for social networks. The first inquired about the relationship status of the young person with levels including 'Single', 'In a relationship (including married/common law)', 'Not in a relationship (separated/divorced and widowed)', and 'Prefer not to answer'. The second asked if a reliable adult was present for the young person, which was a dichotomous (yes/no) variable. The presence of at least one adult who cares for a young person has been shown to build self-esteem, improve life satisfaction, improve coping in times of distress, and promote a sense of belonging (153). It was also found to be a strong predictor of mental health problems among young people in a national survey in Ireland (153). Considering the young age range of the sample, for which relationship status may be less informative, and the higher response rate for the latter question, it was decided that 'Presence or absence of reliable adults' would be used as a proxy for social network.

Three questions on the sociodemographic information form captured young people's income status. These questions included 'Last year, my total household annual income (excluding roommates/friends) was greater than \$32,000', 'If you live alone with friends or with roommates, was your personal income last year less than \$10,000?', and 'With your current household income, do you have any difficulty meeting basic expenses such as food, shelter, and clothing?'. After looking at the proportion of missing data for these questions, as well as acknowledging that

many young people may not have known the annual income status of their household, it was decided that the binary variable which captures one's ability to meet basic expenses would be used as a proxy for socioeconomic status.

The acronym NEET, first used in the United Kingdom in 1996, stands for 'Not in education, employment, or training' and has been used as an indicator in many research, government, and cross-national publications (154). This is because, it may identify young people at the intersection of discouragement, joblessness, and marginalization (154). While this indicator captures a heterogenous group of nonvulnerable and vulnerable young people, it can identify young people at risk of low income and social exclusion as a result of difficulties transitioning from school to the labour market (154). Associations between various mental health problems in young people and NEET status have been identified in previous studies (including a systematic review and meta-analysis), although the direction of this association has not been established (155, 156). In this study, engagement in education, employment, or training was assessed with the question 'I am currently engaged in (check all that apply):' with options: 'Taking care of my basic needs', 'Paid employment (Hours per week)', 'Education (Hours per week)', 'Training to take up trade/job (Hours per week)', 'Other, please specify', 'Volunteering (Hours per week)', 'Care giving for child or dependent adult', 'Job seeking/looking for education opportunity', or 'Not in education, training or employment'. From this question, a binary variable was created. Anyone who selected either paid employment, education, or training were categorized as being engaged in employment, education, or training while everyone else was categorized as 'not in education, employment, or training (NEET)'. This categorization is consistent with that employed by OECD, Statistics Canada, and various country-specific government and international bodies (154, 157, 158).

Educational attainment was assessed by asking about the highest level of completed education with the following options: 'Primary school/elementary school', 'Junior high (outside Quebec)', 'High school (secondary school) diploma or equivalent', 'College', 'CEGEP or other nonuniversity certificate or diploma', 'Registered apprenticeship or other trades certificate or diploma', 'Other (please specify)', 'Bachelor's degree', 'Master's degree', 'Doctoral degree', or 'None of the above'. Given the sample size for some of the response categories, some were combined. In line with standards approved in 2021 by Statistics Canada, the categories were first collapsed into 'Less than secondary (high school) graduation', 'Secondary school diploma or equivalent', 'Some postsecondary education', or 'Postsecondary certificate, diploma, or degree' (159). However, due to the age group of the sample, 'Some postsecondary education' and 'Postsecondary certificate, diploma or degree' were grouped together under 'Postsecondary education'. When 'Other' was selected and the choice explained, the response was re-categorized into one of the existing categories whenever possible. Those who selected 'Other' but did not specify were treated as non-response. The reason for this decision was twofold. First, many of the write-ins expressed that the highest level of education was unknown. Second, all young people should have been able to fit into one of the new categories. Those who selected 'None of the above' had not yet achieved any of the education levels, including completion of primary school and they were therefore combined under 'Less than secondary (high school) graduation'. Given the age range of the sample, and the fact that some school systems outside of Quebec count grade 7 and 8 as primary school level, it was not surprising that many young people fell into this category ($\sim 51\%$).

To acknowledge that some young people had not completed secondary education simply because they were not at an age where one typically completes high school, and they may differ from

those who did not complete high school at an age when they are expected to have completed high school, an age-adjusted educational attainment variable was created. First, an age indicator was made to distinguish between those who were old enough to have completed secondary school and those who were not. In Quebec, the average minimum age of graduating from high school is 17 while it is 18 in all other provinces. To be conservative and prevent the penalization of young people who perhaps took a little longer to complete secondary school, a two-year buffer was added. This meant that those who were 19 in Quebec or 20 in another province were expected to have completed secondary school based on their age. Next, new categories applying this age indicator were created: 'Less than secondary-school education, not at an age where secondary expected', 'Less than secondary-school education, at an age where secondary expected', 'Secondary-school education (High school or equivalent)', and 'Post-secondary'.

3.4.4 Clinical and functioning characteristics

Two variables of interest were: severity of mental health problem(s) (160) and level of social and occupational functioning, and both were obtained via clinician reports.

The transdiagnostic version of the Clinical Global Impressions scale was used to evaluate the severity of mental health problem(s) (161). This scale ranges from 1 to 7, with 1 representing 'Normal to no mental health problem' and 7 being 'Among the most extremely severe of mental health problems'. For the analyses, a dichotomized version of this variable was used. In line with the scale's anchors and the overall ACCESS study, those with scores 1 to 3 were categorized as having 'No-to-mild mental health problem(s)', while those with scores from 4 to 7 were considered to have 'Moderate-to-severe mental health problem(s)' (162).

Social Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale was used to evaluate the level of social and occupational functioning in the 30 days prior to the clinical assessment, without considering the severity of their symptoms (160, 163). This scale ranges from 0 to 100 with the lowest scores indicating poorer functioning (163). For the analyses, and in line with many other reports in the literature, a dichotomized version of the variable was used. Those with scores 61 to 100 were categorized as having 'None to mild difficulty with functioning' while those with scores between 1 to 60 were considered to have 'Moderate to significant difficulty with functioning' (164).

3.4.5 Service use characteristics

Two questions, both self-reported by young people, were used to ascertain previous mental health help-seeking/use. The first question asked if young people had been previously referred to ACCESS; those who had were also asked if they had been assessed. The second question asked young people to report whether they had received any mental health services in the 12 months prior to coming to ACCESS. These variables were combined to create one variable labelled 'Previous mental health help-seeking/use'. Those who had previously sought services at ACCESS were categorized as either 'Previous ACCESS assessment' or 'Previous ACCESS contact with no assessment'. For the remaining young people who reported that they had any previous mental health service seeking in the 12 months prior to their assessment at ACCESS, they were categorized as having 'Previous services use in the past year, but not at ACCESS'. The rest were deemed to have had 'No previous mental health service seeking/use in the past year'.

3.4.6 Time since implementation of ACCESS and COVID-19

To account for the fact that young people's engagement with ACCESS may have changed the longer it was since the program had been established, due to factors such as advertising, the

variable 'Time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation' was created. Each site at ACCESS implemented the ACCESS project on different dates, so this variable was created by taking the date of a young person's referral and determining the corresponding month since program implementation at that specific site. The variable was then categorized into 6-month intervals to allow for more meaningful conclusions to be drawn. When young people were missing their referral date, the date of first appointment was substituted followed by any service date at baseline.

The COVID-19 pandemic started during the study period. The pandemic had the potential to impact many factors being studied, both for the system and for the young person. To examine the potential impacts, an additional variable, 'Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 pandemic' was created to distinguish between those who arrived at ACCESS prior to 1 March 2020. This was the month that the COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and it is theorized that referral pathways as well as wait times to services may have significantly differed after this period. Jigsaw, a study at an integrated youth mental health service in Ireland, found that the mode of referral, some demographic characteristics of young people attending the service, wait times (in days) to first appointment, and referrals coming from parents differed pre and post pandemic (165). Young people whose referral date was before 1 March 2020, were categorized as 'Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic' and those who came after were categorized as 'Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic'. When young people were missing their referral date, the date of first appointment was substituted followed by any service date at baseline.

3.5 Statistical analyses

3.5.1 Statistical analyses: Aim I – determinants of self-referral

To assess the first aim which seeks to understand the social, clinical, and service use determinants of the self-referral pathway, a logistic regression, with a random intercept for site to account for within site correlation, was used. The covariates included in the model were: age (in years), gender, ethnic and cultural origins, sexual orientation, presence of a reliable adult, ability to meet basic needs, education, employment or training, age-adjusted educational attainment, severity of mental health problem(s), level of social and occupational functioning, previous mental health service seeking/use, and time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation (in 6-month increments). The intraclass correlation was calculated to estimate the amount of variance attributable to site. Variance inflation factors were calculated to check for multicollinearity and outliers. Predictive performance was assessed using 10-fold cross validation.

3.5.2 Statistical analyses: Aim II- impact of self-referral on wait times to first appointment

To assess whether times between referral and first appointment differ between those who selfreferred versus those who came in via other referral sources, a Kaplan-Meier curve and an accelerated failure time model were used. The Kaplan-Meier curve described differences by referral source in the probability of having a first appointment after a delay of any given number of days following referral. Accelerated failure time models are flexible and parametric models that measure how covariates of interest either accelerate or decelerate time to an event of interest (166). While initially a Cox proportional hazards model was considered, the proportional hazards assumption was violated and an accelerated failure time model, which does not make this assumption, was chosen as an appropriate alternative (166). Consequently, an accelerated failure time model, with a random intercept for site, was run to obtain adjusted time ratios (TR) between self- and other referral sources, accounting for site-level differences. Covariates in this model were: age (in years), gender, ethnic and cultural origins, sexual orientation, presence of a reliable adult, ability to meet basic needs, NEET status, age-adjusted educational attainment, severity of mental health problem(s), level of social and occupational functioning, previous mental health service seeking/use, and time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation (in 6-month increments). Four models assuming lognormal, loglogistic, exponential, and Weibull distributions were used. The Akaike information criterion from these models was then compared to determine which distribution obtained the most appropriate model fit.

3.5.3 Investigating and dealing with missingness

Missing data is a problem in most cohort studies and for a variety of different reasons. To explore the scope of missing data in the sample, the proportion of missingness for each variable was calculated. A multiple logistic regression, including all variables, coded as missing vs. not missing was also used to determine if patterns in missingness existed. If less than 5% of data were missing or if there were no detectable patterns in missingness, the data would have been assumed to be missing completely at random and complete case analysis would have been performed. However, since a higher proportion (>5%) of the data was missing and there were observable patterns in the missingness, data could not be assumed to be missing completely at random. Accordingly, data could have been considered either missing at random or not missing completely at random. While no formal test to distinguish between these two assumptions currently exists, data were gathered on each participant for a wide range of social, clinical, and service use variables, so it was assumed that the probability of missing data would depend only

on observed participant data. Therefore, data were assumed to be missing at random. In making this assumption, the data could be imputed using multiple imputation.

Multiple imputation was chosen over single imputation since it can account for variability in predicting missing values (167). Specifically, multivariate imputation by chained equations (MICE) was employed, with the mice package in R, since it can handle complex data with multiple variable types (168). The imputation analysis was run using all available data from the cohort study.

In selecting variables to be imputed, cut-offs based on the proportion of missing data for a given variable were not applied. There is no consensus on how much missing data is too much for imputation and Madley-Dowd et al. argue that it should not be used to guide variable selection (169). Instead, a conceptual approach was taken. As is routinely done when imputing with MICE, all variables involved in the analyses were included in the imputation model. Additional auxiliary variables, hypothesized to be related to missingness, were also identified and included to improve accuracy (170). All composite variables needed for the sake of the analysis were created post-imputation. In other words, age-adjusted educational attainment was created after imputing age and educational attainment, separately. The same was done for the 'Previous mental health service seeking/use' variable which combined the variables 'Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking' and 'Previous ACCESS service seeking'.

Chapter 4: Results

Between March 2016 and December 2020, 5,199 out of 7,889 young people referred, had at least one appointment for an initial evaluation at one of the 11 included ACCESS sites.

4.1 Missing data

Missingness among the variables ranged from 6%-67%. Missing data in the sample were expected since the data were collected via clinical records, self-report forms, and clinical interviews in real-world settings that were not in academic centres, and many of which had not participated earlier in research. Assuming the data to be missing at random, multivariate imputation by chained equations was used. Sixty datasets were imputed to help mitigate potential bias caused by variables with high proportions of missingness, while balancing computational efficiency (171). The number of iterations was increased until convergence was achieved; in the end, imputation was performed with 60 iterations. The correlation between each variable pair was calculated and if over 0.1, these variables were used to predict one another in the model. 'Time from referral to first appointment' was not predicted by or a predictor of 'Time from contact with youth to first appointment', as these variables were collinear. The method of imputation varied depending on the type of variable; continuous variables, binary variables, categorical variables, and ordinal variables were imputed using predictive mean matching, logistic regression, polynomial regression, and ordered logistic regression, respectively. The sequence of block visitation was set from left to right of the data frame.

All time-to-event variables, such as 'Time to first appointment', were converted to cumulative baseline hazards pre-imputation (172). Since predictive mean matching makes predictions from existing, observed data for a given variable, the imputed cumulative baseline hazards could be

converted back to times post-imputation for analyses. Following imputation, the logic of the time variables was verified. Since there were no cases in the data pre-imputation where the time from referral to offered appointment was greater than the time from referral to first appointment, when this appeared in the data post-imputation, these times were set to equal. The imputations were checked for logged events, for which there were none. Convergence was assessed by plotting the mean value of each imputed dataset against the iteration (168). Density plots were used to compare the pre-imputed data to the post-imputed data for all continuous variables (168). Similar comparisons were made for the categorical, binary, and ordinal variables. The result of these plots suggested that the imputation was successful.

The sociodemographic, clinical, and service use characteristics of the 5,199 young people preand post-imputation are displayed in Table 2. The complete case characteristics are also displayed in this table. The sample was restricted to 42 months post-imputation because the date of ACCESS implementation varied by site and consequently the length of follow up, but most sites had 42 months of follow up. After limiting the sample to reflect those who came to ACCESS in the first 42 months of program implementation, the analytical sample was reduced to 4,421 participants. Figure 1 outlines how the analytical sample was derived. The imputation did not exclude those who came to access after 42 months of program implementation as there was no reason to believe that participants who came before versus after 42 months differed from one another based on their characteristics or outcomes. Further, including all possible information in the imputation may improve its accuracy. Supplemental analyses restricting the imputation to 42 months prior to running the main analyses resulted in the same conclusions for Aim I and Aim II. Table S 2 in the supplement displays the missing data by referral source for the analytical sample (N=4,421) and Table S 3 in the supplement compares participant characteristics for those with complete data for all variables involved in the first and second aim (N=4,421).

4.2 Sample characteristics

Table 3 shows the post-imputation participant characteristics of the analytical sample of 4,421 for those who self-referred compared to those who did not and reports the p-values of pooled Pearson's Chi-squared tests used to compare the distributions of these two samples on these characteristics.

Of the 4,421-young people, 39.3% self-referred while 60.7% arrived via a different referral route. The proportion of young people self-referring differed by site, ranging from 6-75%. The average age of the total sample was 19.40 years old (standard deviation=3.39). Relative to the other response options for each of the following characteristics, the overall sample had a higher proportion of cis women (53.9%), young people that were White (54.5%), heterosexual (60.9%), had a reliable adult present (80.2%), had no difficulty meeting their basic needs (60.8%), were in education, employment, or training (64.8%), had completed secondary school (40.1%), had a moderate-to-severe mental health problem(s) (64.3%), had no-to-mild difficulties with functioning (51.4%), and had previously sought mental health services, but not at ACCESS (53.8%). The largest proportion of young people came in between months 25-30 after sites initiated the ACCESS model (17.9%), with the smallest proportion coming in during the first 6 months (8.6%). Most came prior to 1 March 2020, the month the COVID-19 pandemic begun (98.5%). Pooled Pearson's Chi-squared tests revealed significant differences in terms of age, ethnic or cultural origins, presence of a reliable adult, NEET status, age-adjusted educational

attainment, level of social and occupational functioning, and time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation between those who self-referred compared to those arriving via other referral pathways.

Table 4 displays the mean and median wait times, in days, from referral to first appointment across each variable. Wait times from referral to the first appointment were zero for those who self-referred whereas those with another referral source waited a median of 6 days (interguartile range=0.00-18.96). For the covariates, wait times were longer among youth who were: younger, i.e., 11-15 years old (median days=12.09, interquartile range= 2.99-29.85), cis-women (median days=1.55, interquartile range=0.00-13.72), Indigenous (median days=3.43, interquartile range= 0.00-19.59) heterosexual (median days=1.00, interquartile range=0.00-13.10), who had a reliable adult present (median days=1.23, interquartile range=0.00-13.10), had no difficulty meeting basic needs (mean days=1.88, interquartile range=0.00-14.02), were engaged in education, employment or training (median days=2.80, interquartile range=0.00-14.78), were too young to have achieved secondary education (median days= 6.91 days, interquartile range=0.00-19.68), had no-to-mild mental health problem(s) (median days= 1.52 days, interquartile range=0.00-11.88), had moderate-to-significant difficulties with functioning (median days=1.00, interquartile range=0.00-12.74), previously had an ACCESS assessment (median days=8.02, interquartile range=0.00-25.15) or came in the first 6 months of each site's implementation of ACCESS (median days= 4.59, interquartile range=0.00-17.31).

4.3 Predictors of self-referral pathway use

The results of the pooled, adjusted logistic regression with random intercept, as shown in Table 5, revealed that the odds of self-referral increased per one-year increase in age (OR:1.10, 95%)

CI:1.06-1.14) and per six-month increase in time post-ACCESS implementation (OR: 1.09, 95% CI: 1.05-1.14). Those who had not achieved a secondary diploma were more likely to self-refer compared to those who were too young to have achieved a secondary diploma (OR: 1.42, 95% CI: 1.02-1.98). Young people who had previously received an ACCESS assessment were more likely to self-refer than those with no previous service use (OR: 2.28, 95% CI: 1.61-3.24). Sexual minority young people were less likely to self-refer compared to heterosexual young people (OR: 0.81, 95% CI: 0.67-0.98) and young people with moderate-to-significant difficulties with functioning were less likely to self-refer compared to those with no-to-mild difficulties (OR: 0.81, 95% CI: 0.65-0.99). The site variable accounted for 20% of the variance in referral source based on the results of the adjusted pooled intraclass correlation coefficient. The variance inflation factor also consistently estimated low correlation between variables suggesting the absence of multicollinearity in the model. The 10-fold cross validation found the model's predictive performance to be satisfactory with the area under the curve ranging between 0.81 and 0.82 by imputed dataset.

4.4 Time to first appointment for self- vs other referrals

Regardless of referral source, and averaged across the imputed datasets, just over half of young people's first appointments occurred the same day as their referral (n~2,212), 75% were seen within 11 days (n~3,300) and 90% were seen within 35 days (n~3,952). Figure 3 presents the pooled Kaplan Meier curves that show that on the day of referral, the probability of receiving a first appointment is approximately 79% for self-referrers and 32% for young people using other referral routes. By day 11, the probability increases to approximately 90% for those self-referring and 65% for young people using other referral routes. While on day 35, the probability of obtaining a first appointment is approximately 95% for self-referrers and 86% for those using

other referral routes. The probability of receiving a first appointment is higher for self-referrers compared to those using other referral routes consistently until around day 211, at which point the probability is approximately the same regardless of referral source. However, on average, only 26 participants had not received their first appointment by day 211.

The results of the adjusted accelerated failure time model with time from referral to first appointment as the dependent variable are shown in Table 6. This analysis revealed that wait times to first appointment were, on average, shorter among young people who self-referred compared to those with other referral sources (TR:0.70, 95% CI: 0.65-0.76). They were also shorter for those coming later in the course after ACCESS was implemented, although this association was weak (TR:0.98, 95% CI:0.97-1.00). On the other hand, wait times to first appointment were longer for those who had a moderate-to-severe mental health problem(s) (TR:1.10, 95% CI: 1.01-1.19), had a previous ACCESS assessment (TR: 1.21, 95% CI: 1.02-1.44) or had previous service use but not at ACCESS (TR: 1.12, 95% CI: 1.03-1.22) (see Table 6).

4.4.1 Exploratory analyses of components comprising the time from referral to first appointment

As outlined in Figure 2, the wait time from the referral to the first appointment can be broken down into the time from the referral to successful contact with youth, the time from successful contact with youth to offered appointment, and the time from offered appointment to first appointment. To understand which of these components is affected by referral source (self-versus other), three additional accelerated failure time models were run with each of the times as the dependent variable. Table 7 displays the results of the pooled, adjusted accelerated failure time model, including all the same covariates from the main analysis but with time from referral to successful contact with youth as the outcome. Those who self-referred had shorter wait times from referral to successful contact with youth compared to those referred through other sources (TR:0.64, 95% CI:0.60-0.68). Those who were not in education, employment, or training also had shorter wait times (TR:0.93, 95% CI: 0.86-1.00) as well as those who arrived at sites later in the course after ACCESS was implemented (TR:0.98, 95% CI:0.96-1.00), although these associations were weak. Young people who arrived at ACCESS after 1 March 2020, the month when the COVID-19 pandemic was declared, experienced longer wait times (TR:1.33, 95% CI:1.06-1.67).

Table 8 displays the results of the adjusted accelerated failure time model, including all the same covariates from the main analysis, but with time from successful contact with youth to offered appointment as the outcome. The time from contacting the youth to the first offered appointment did not vary by referral source. Those with a moderate-to-severe mental health problem(s) were more likely to experience longer wait times to first offered appointment (TR: 1.07, 95% CI: 1.01-1.13). A weak association was found with those who had previously contacted ACCESS but had not been assessed, waiting longer than those with no previous service seeking/use (TR:1.15, 95% CI:1.00-1.34). Those who arrived at sites later in the course after ACCESS had been implemented also waited longer for an appointment to be offered after the youth had been contacted, although this association was weak (TR:1.01, 95% CI: 1.00-1.02).

Table 9 displays the results of the adjusted, accelerated failure time model, including all of the same covariates from the main analysis but with time from offered appointment to first appointment as the outcome. This analysis found that there was no difference in the time from offered appointment to first appointment based on referral source. Those who entered the service

later after ACCESS implementation had longer periods from offered appointment to first appointment, although this association was weak (TR:1.01, 95% CI:1.00-1.02).

4.5 Post hoc analysis- interaction between Clinical Global Impressions-Youth Mental Health score and referral source and its impact on time from referral to first appointment

In view of the results for the second aim, investigating the time from referral to first appointment, it was of interest to better understand the finding that those with a moderate-tosevere mental health problem(s) were more likely to experience longer wait times to the first appointment. The same accelerated failure time model from the main analysis, with time from referral to first appointment as the outcome, was used but with the addition of an interaction term between Clinical Global Impressions scale score (this time coded continuously for a more nuanced investigation) and referral source. This analysis was conducted to see if the source of referral modified the relationship between the severity of mental health problem(s) and the time to first appointment. The interaction term was statistically significant, and Figure S1 shows that the predicted median wait time for a first appointment was consistently higher among those arriving via other referrals compared to self-referrals; but, while the increase in severity of a mental health problem was associated with lower predicted median days to first appointment among those who self-referred, the opposite was true for those with a different referral source.

Chapter 5: Discussion

The aims of this study were to investigate clinical and sociodemographic determinants of the self-referral pathway and its impact on wait times to the first appointment at youth mental health services that were part of the ACCESS Open Minds network. More than one third of young people who connected with ACCESS had self-referred. Enhanced primary/community, broad-spectrum youth mental health services reform initiatives in Ireland and Australia have reported similar rates of self-referral (~30% and over 40%, including family/friend, respectively), which suggests that, when made available, many young people rely on this route to care (173, 174). Yet, to our knowledge, this study is the first youth mental health services reform initiative to investigate the determinants of self-referral pathway use and its impact on timely access to care.

Self-referral was associated with shorter wait times to first appointment, highlighting the importance of this route to care. Nonetheless, two thirds of the sample came to services through other referral routes, which demonstrates that service gatekeepers, such as parents and general practitioners, remain important sources of referral in youth mental health services. There were variations in the proportion of young people self-referring by site (from 6-75%), highlighting that context may shape pathways to care. For example, the only method for accessing services at the site with the highest proportion of self-referral was 'walk-in'. This may have facilitated young people coming in on their own, although referrals from other sources were still seen at this site. This site was also in a large social services organization in the downtown of a large city, which also may have facilitated self-referrals. The site with the lowest proportion of self-referral covers a large rural population in a large, widespread region. The region has no one central or main area and poor public transportation, which may have hindered self-referrals. Youth may have needed to rely on others to help facilitate referrals to health and social services like ACCESS.

Interestingly, the two other sites with low self-referral rates were urban sites but based in large institutions with multiple services and access pathways and procedures, rather than stand-alone youth hubs. Future research needs to examine more closely how individual and organizational factors influence pathways to care, both independently and in interaction with each other. Variations in the use of the self-referral pathway suggest that youth mental health services need to have multiple portals of entry including, but not limited to, self-referral.

5.1 Determinants of self-referral pathways

Considering that self-referral pathways have been theorized to improve service uptake for traditionally underserved groups, it was interesting that, for the most part, more vulnerable young people (i.e., gender diverse, visible minority, or Indigenous young people, those not in education, employment, or training, and who did not have a reliable adult present) were not more or less likely to use the self-referral pathway compared to their peers. Thus far, there is limited and, at times, conflicting evidence on who is more likely to self-refer to mental health (9, 11, 116, 134, 140, 141). While its increased uptake by traditionally underserved young people would have strengthened the perceived value of integrating self-referral pathways in youth mental health services, the finding that more vulnerable groups do not differ in referral routes to ACCESS compared to their peers still allays fears that self-referral could widen health inequalities by making mental health care more accessible to those who are already more likely to engage with services (130).

While this was the general pattern of findings, it is still concerning that some youth groups were less likely to self-refer. Sexual minority young people were less likely to use this route compared to heterosexual young people. Still, approximately 39% of young people in the sample identified

as a sexual minority, which indicates that, though this group was less likely to access services through this pathway, they still did engage with ACCESS in higher proportions than their proportion in the overall population (175). Other youth mental health services reform initiatives have also seen relatively high proportions of sexual minority young people (176, 177). So increased service use in this group may be attributed to practices such as the creation and advertising of co-designed, inclusive, LGBTQI2S+ affirming, youth-friendly spaces (176, 177).

Those who had moderate-to-significant difficulties with functioning were also less likely to selfrefer. Self-referral pathways put more responsibility on service users to navigate mental health service systems, which could be more difficult for someone with reduced functioning (15). Such young people may require more support when accessing services (15). It is also possible that those with more severe functioning difficulties are more likely to be identified as needing help by others who then refer them to services (142). Alternatively, this finding could support the concern that self-referral pathways increase service uptake by those with less severe presentations (130). This is, however, less likely considering that there was an approximately equal proportion of those with no-to-mild difficulties with functioning and those with moderateto-significant difficulties with functioning in the overall ACCESS sample. There were also more individuals attending ACCESS with a moderate-to-severe mental health problem(s) compared to no-to-mild mental health problem(s), and those with milder mental health problems were no more likely to self-refer than those with a moderate-to-severe mental health problem(s).

Some youth groups were more likely to self-refer, which also merits reflection. Having a previous assessment at ACCESS was associated with higher odds of self-referral. This is contradictory to the findings of Ramirez,et.al. (2009), who found that those with no previous mental health service contact were more likely to self-refer to a specialty mental health service in

Sweden (141). However, these services likely serve very different demographics of young people, which may explain the difference. In the case of ACCESS, those with previous assessments at ACCESS may have been more acquainted with ACCESS services; those who had previously attended the service would have known that they could obtain care at ACCESS sites and may have been less likely to need assistance with service navigation compared to those who had never used mental health services, and particularly ACCESS services. Similarly, those coming later during program implementation were more likely to self-refer. These young people may have been exposed to more outreach and word-of-mouth publicity about ACCESS, including from peers who used its services, and may have therefore been more aware of the ACCESS services and its ability to accept self-referrals.

A somewhat intriguing finding is that those with less than a secondary education were more likely to self-refer compared to those who were too young to have completed secondary education. Young people who did not have a secondary education at an age when they would have been expected to may not have had the capacity to navigate traditional systems or may have been less connected to social networks that could detect and refer them to mental health services. Many ACCESS sites offered welfare and supported employment and education services either through co-location or through linkages, that may have been particularly attractive to young people with less than a secondary education.

Currently available studies examining the determinants of self-referral to youth mental health services is very limited and heterogeneous. Thus, comparing the results of this study to previously published works is difficult. To our knowledge, other similar youth mental health services in other countries, such as Jigsaw in Ireland, Headspace in Australia, and Youth Space in Birmingham, have not looked at the determinants of self-referral. Only one study was identified
that examined self-referrals and was conducted in Canada. While it was conducted in a setting comparable to ACCESS, Youth Wellness Center (described as accessible, youth friendly and community-based), it relied on univariate tests to draw conclusions about determinants of self-referral and focused only on gender differences (116).

5.2 Timeliness of the first appointment and its association with referral source

A major finding of this study was that those who self-referred were more likely to obtain their first appointment sooner than those who used other referral routes; this can be attributed to the reduced time it takes to contact young people after a referral is received. More specifically, selfreferral removes the need for ACCESS to first reach out to and successfully contact an external referral source, before trying to contact the youth. Self-referring at ACCESS can include walking into the service directly to ask for help; hence, for some, help may have been given at the time of referral (e.g., see the high likelihood of obtaining a first appointment on the day of referral among those who referred themselves). We found no evidence to suggest that self-referring had any impact on the time it took services to offer an appointment to young people after they were successfully contacted or the time it took for the first appointment to occur after it was offered. These findings highlight the way in which self-referral pathways are able to improve timely access to care and the importance of adopting such a route to care in youth mental health services. However, given this study found differential use of the self-referral pathways, this route to care should be particularly promoted among those less likely to refer themselves in order to prevent the exacerbation of health inequities and to ensure all youth receive timely access to care. In addition, efforts should also be made to reduce delays in access to services for those who use other referral sources.

Consistent with what was reported in a previous publication with the ACCESS sample (under review), those with a moderate-to-severe mental health problem(s) are more likely to experience longer wait times to the first appointment. A post-hoc accelerated failure time model for time to first appointment with an interaction between severity of mental health presentations and referral source demonstrated that while the median wait time to first appointment was consistently lower among those who self-referred, it decreased as the severity of mental health problem(s) increased. The opposite was observed for those using other referral sources in that the median wait time increased as severity increased. While conclusions cannot be made about why the severity of mental health problem(s), influenced appointment offers once the young person was successfully contacted, the results of the interaction analysis emphasize the role that self-referral pathways can play in improving timely access to care for those with a more severe problem(s) and the need for targeted interventions to improve their uptake by these young people. A possible explanation is that the same factors underlie both being referred by another referral source (as opposed to self-referral) and delays to both offered and actual appointments among those with a severe mental health problem(s), even after the treating team had successfully contacted the young person. For example, some young people with more serious problems may be disorganized, not call back to coordinate or follow up about their appointments; may have higher levels of stigma and reluctance to seek help; or they may lack the resources to advocate for themselves effectively (178). These factors may be associated with both referral source and delays to appointment.

5.3 Strengths and limitations

This study is, to our knowledge, the first to investigate the determinants of self-referral pathway use and its impact on wait times to first appointment for young people seeking mental health

services in Canada. Given that, globally, there remains a lack of quantitative evidence supporting the notion that self-referral pathways can improve accessibility to care, this study helps shed light on the impact of such a route to care in practice. Previous literature on this topic has mainly investigated determinants of self-referral pathway use via univariate analyses which are unable to adjust for confounding factors. They were also limited in the way that they handled missing data. This study not only used a large, diverse sample of help-seeking young people, but also employed multivariate imputation and conducted more robust statistical analyses using multiple logistic regression and accelerated failure time models that accounted for within site correlations and adjusted for various other factors that influence wait times. This meant conclusions could be drawn about the associations between each determinant of interest and referral source, and the association between source of referral and wait times could be measured while accounting for confounding bias.

However, results should still be interpreted with caution as this study is not without limitations. For one, referral source was dichotomized into self- vs other referrals. The other referral category is quite heterogeneous, and it may not have been ideal to combine referrals from sources such as community organizations and emergency departments. This has been a limitation in other studies and future investigations could conduct more nuanced analyses which allow for self-referral to be compared with specific gatekeepers (141). While differential use of self-referral pathways was identified, we cannot explain the reason for this. An article with similar findings argued that more research into untangling this, such as gaining an understanding of young people's attitudes toward self-referral is warranted (11). Additionally, self-referral was defined in terms of the young people seeking help themselves at an ACCESS site, but this could have been preceded by other help-seeking contacts prior to the self-referral, some of which may have been initiated by

other referral sources. The 'Previously sought mental health services' variable may have controlled for this partially; however, it is possible that young people sought help from informal sources who then told them to self-refer. In fact, one study found that many of the young people who self-referred were directed by their parents (179). Furthermore, we were unable control for the number of help-seeking contacts prior to referral, as this information was not collected from the young people. So, while self-referral is associated with more direct access, it is important to remember that only wait times from referral to first appointment were explored. Since research in psychosis has found that both help-seeking and referral delays are associated with longer duration of untreated psychosis, future studies could benefit from looking more deeply into the various components of treatment delays. Our results could also have been impacted by selection and information bias as most data for this study were collected during young people's initial evaluation, which had begun at their first appointment. We do not have information on the demographic or clinical characteristics of the young people who were referred to ACCESS but, either chose not to partake in the study or did not attend their first appointment. It is possible that these young people differed significantly from the analytical sample by the source of referral and/or their demographic and clinical characteristics. Additionally, time-varying demographic and clinical characteristics, such as ability to meet basic needs, difficulty with functioning, and problem severity, may only reflect the state of the young person at the time of the first appointment, and not at the time of referral. As such, it is possible that these demographics are not determining the referral source. However, considering the median time to first appointment was less than half a day, this information bias may have been mitigated. Sociodemographic information was also collected via self-report which could have been subjected to bias; recall bias in particular may have impacted results but considering all information was collected in the

first appointment it is not expected to have biased results greatly, if at all. Previous service seeking was also collected via self-report and asked young people to report on service use in the year prior to attending ACCESS. This may have been impacted by recall bias. Confounding could have also played a role as service area-level of deprivation has been shown to attenuate the relationship between factors like ethnicity and referral route (11). While a strength of our study may have been the use of "ability to meet basic expenses" as a proxy for individual-level deprivation, future work could focus on controlling for both and using more objective measures, such as postal code of young people, which was not available for the current study. Caution should also be used when generalizing the findings of this study. This study focused on selfreferral pathways to ACCESS but pathways to care are both setting and context-specific, so these findings may not be generalizable to other youth mental health services, particularly outside Canada.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

In conclusion, this study was successful in identifying determinants of self-referral pathways and the impact of self-referral (versus other) pathways on timely access to care for young people presenting to ACCESS. A third of the ACCESS sample referred themselves to the service and this route to care was associated with shorter wait times to first appointment. This underscores the potential importance of such a route to care in youth mental health service reforms in Canada. Nonetheless, most young people arrived at ACCESS through other routes and there was large variability in self-referral use by site. Including multiple portals of entry, as a part of youth mental health service reforms in Canada, is therefore important. Additionally, some young people were less likely to self-refer. While further investigations may be needed to understand why some routes are associated with lower wait times compared to others, findings support the need for interventions that improve the uptake of self-referral pathway use among these groups and decrease wait times for those using other referral routes.

Tables and Figures

 Table 1. Identified articles from literature review investigating determinants of self-referral and its impact on treatment delays (N=8)*

Article	Study aim	Study Sample	Mental health service and setting	Self-referral comparison	Determinants of self- referral examined	Wait times associated with self-referral examined	Relevant findings
Eamon, et al., 2019 (116)	To compare service access pathways of transgender and gender diverse young people attending a youth mental health clinic to cisgender young people and to examine ways to address the needs of transgender and gender diverse young people in the broader context of mental health care	Clients (ages 17-25) of a Youth Wellness Center who presented between 2015-2018.	Youth Wellness Center, which is described as youth friendly, accessible, and community- based, in Canada	Health care provider, family, friend, self	Gender (cisgender male vs. cisgender female vs. transgender, cisgender male vs. cisgender female vs. gender diverse, gender conforming vs. gender diverse)	N/A	Chi square tests revealed that: transgender clients were more likely to self-refer compared to cis gender males or cis gender females, who may be more likely to be referred by a family/ friend or health care provider.; gender diverse clients were more likely to self-refer compared to cis-gender male or female clients, who may be more likely to be referred by a family/ friend or health care provider; gender diverse clients were more likely to self-refer compare to gender- conforming clients, who may be more likely to be referred by a family/ friend or health care provider; gender diverse clients were more likely to self-refer compared to gender-conforming clients, who may be more likely to come through other pathways.

Rock, et al., 2020

(9)

Evaluate the incorporation of a single point of access to care in two child and adolescent mental health services.

This study used a mixed methods study design and thus had United multiple samples. The relevant study sample included young people (age range not explicitly stated and N's not provided) in Buckingham shire, the

United

and

Kingdom,

Oxfordshire.

in the United

Kingdom,

who were referred to

child and

mental health

services after the

on of a single point

implementati

of access in

2015/16 and 2018/19 respectively.

adolescent

Child and Self-referral adolescent (self, parent, mental health carer) services in the compared to United general Kingdom. practitioner referral Ward deprivationN/A(measured by the indexof multipledeprivation), age,gender/sex (female vs.male), ethnicity (whiteBritish vs other- notexplicitly stated)

In Buckinghamshire, chi square tests showed that the difference in the number of referrals from general practitioner's vs self was significantly different for white British youth compared to other youth; more white British youth used selfreferral. Among those who self-referred in Buckinghamshire, t tests found younger youth as well as those from more deprived areas were more often rejected from receiving child and adolescent mental health services. Chi square tests also found that males who selfreferred were more likely to be rejected from receiving services compared to females.

In Oxfordshire, a t test and chi square test revealed that younger youth and those from less deprived areas were more often referred through self/parent/carer referred versus coming via a general practitioner, respectively. Chi square tests showed that white British youth more often self-referred vs using a general practitioner compared to other youth.

Edbrooks In -Childs, w et al., rd 2019 (11) n

Investigate whether referral routes to youth mental health are different by ethnicity.

14,588 young people (<25 years) accessing mental health services in the United Kingdom with complete data on key characteristi cs for

analysis.

Youth mental health services in the United Kingdom. Health Service direct) compared to primary care

Ethnicity (white other, Mixed, Asian, Black, other ethnicity, not stated each vs. white British), gender/sex (female vs. male), age (0-12, 0-5 each vs 13-25), problem type (behavioral. unclassified, severe. emotional, self-harm. other each vs. selfmanagement advice), contextual factors (home life, school, community, engagement), service area deprivation (measured by normalized Income **Deprivation Affecting** Children Index with average scores translated into established band categories)

N/A

Adjusted multinominal logistic regression revealed that there were no differences in the odds of self-referral compared to primary care referral by sex, or contextual factors. 6-12-year-olds were less likely to self-refer compared to 13-25-year-olds but there was no difference between 0-5-year-olds and 13-25-year-olds. Those with unclassified problem types were more likely to self-refer compared to the selfmanagement advice group (comprised of young people with a maximum of one moderate clinician rated problem). There were no other differences in the odds of self-referral by other problem types. Asian, Black, and other ethnicity youth were less likely to self-refer compared to white British youth. In a sensitivity analysis, which added area level deprivation to the model, no differences from the findings above were found. Young people coming from the most deprived areas were more likely to self-refer compared to youth coming from the least deprived areas. Yet, young people from the least deprived areas were more likely to self-refer compared to those coming

82

from the second least deprived areas.

Chi square analysis revealed

different between Australian

no demographic differences adults (18people referred mental health compared to female), living between those who selfby professional 25-year service in any nonarrangement (alone vs providers to old's) who: Sweden. psychiatrist others), parental status referred and those referred by specialized (nonparent vs parent), a non-psychiatrist came to professionals professional. But these mental health Flogsta (psychiatric occupational status analyses did find that selfcare in Sweden Outpatient services. (any vs none). differ from self-Clinic in the general immigrant status referral was more common referred people. Department (native of Sweden vs. for those with a mood practitioner, immigrant), Age at disorder or a specific phobia. of school assessment, problem Logistic regression with Psychiatry mental of Uppsala health type (any mood referral source as the disorder, any anxiety Hospital service. outcome and variables: any disorder, any substance mood disorder, any anxiety between other mental 2002-2004. health use disorder, any eating disorder, any eating disorder, had an initial and previous contact with professional) disorder, any psychotic assessment, disorder, somatoform mental health services found disorder, adjustment that those with any mood were living disorder, personality disorder or no previous in the disorder), previous contact with professionals, catchment area of the contact with mental for a mental health concern. service, and health services (no were more likely to self-refer. agreed to previous use, child and adolescent psychiatry, participate. psychiatry, general practitioner, school health service, other mental health service) Immigration status N/A Chi square analysis revealed O'Donog Examine 461 young Specialty Self-referral, whether people (15– mental health Family, (Australian born vs. that the source of referral to al., 2022 pathways to 24-year service in Friends, first generation the Personal Assessment and care, the old's), at Crisis Immigrant) Crisis Evaluation service was Australia.

services,

Self-referral

gender/sex (male vs

N/A

Speciality

200 young

ultra-high

Determine if

Ramirez.

et al.,

2009

(141)

hue, et

(140)

presence and

risk for severity of depressive psychosis symptoms, attending the types, and Personal severity of Assessment attenuated and Crisis positive Evaluation symptoms, and service at global Orygen, functioning at Melbourne, time of Australia presentation to between an At-Risk 2012-2016. mental state clinic differs between Australian born youth and firstgeneration migrant groups.

Community Health services, Emergency Department, Police, Other mental health servie

born youth compared to migrant youth. While a higher proportion of Australia born youth at ultra-high risk self-referred, further analyses were not conducted to make conclusions about statistical differences in self-referral by migrant status. The paper does conclude that more Australian born young people at clinical high risk are referred by other mental health services and that more ultra-high-risk migrants were referred by community health services. The chi square analysis was not significant when stratifying the migrant groups at the continental level and comparing to Australian born youth. However, this may be due to low subgroup sample sizes.

Neill, Examine et.al., association 1977 between (134) demographic characteristic and the source of referral, clinical presentation, and diagnoses.

161 children (age range owned not provided medical but mention outpatient 0-18 and over 18) referred to hill health States. centre and hill field station, Connecticut, United States, in

1971-1972

A community owned Self-referral (self or medical family) outpatient child mental health service in the United States.

Sex (male vs. female) N/A

Chi square analysis shows that females were more likely to be self-referred/referred by family compared to males.

Ebrooke- Childs, et al., 2020 (115)	Examine if severity of mental health problem influences wait time to services (initial assessment).	21 419 young people (<26 years) with complete demographic , clinical and service use data and who attended a child and adolescent mental health service in the United Kingdom between 2011 and 2015.	Child and adolescent mental health service in the United Kingdom.	Self-referral (does not explicitly state but assumed to include Family/carer given age of sample) compared to general practitioner referral	N/A	Wait times to services (time from referral to event/contact): assessed at: 3-4 weeks v 0-2 weeks, 5-18 weeks v 0-2 weeks, >=19 weeks v 0-2 weeks, v 0-2 weeks, v 0-2	Multilevel multinominal logistic regression revealed that the odds of waiting 3-4 weeks or 5-18 weeks compared to 0-2 weeks for an initial assessment was higher for those referred by a general practitioner compared to those who self-referred. There was no difference in the odds of waiting over 18 weeks compared to 0-2 weeks by referral source. This model adjusted for: deprivation, age, gender, ethnicity, contextual factors, and mental health problem severity.
Marino, et al., 2020* (142)	Describe characteristics of the pathway to coordinated specialty care, investigate determinants of DUP and help- seeking DUP (onset to first contact with service).	779 young people (16- 30 years old) who had non- affective psychosis for less than 2 years and attended 1 of 19 OnTrackNY programs in the United States between 2013-2017.	Coordinated specialty care program for those with early psychosis in the United States.	Self-referral compared to family, significant other or friend, teacher, mental health provider, and other referrals	N/A	Help-seeking duration of untreated psychosis (time from onset of psychosis to first mental health service contact)	Bivariate regression with site as a random effect, showed that those who self-referred to the source of first service contact did not experience different help-seeking DUP compared to those referred via significant others/friends, mental health providers, or other sources. However, they had longer help-seeking DUP compared to family members, and teachers. The association did not hold after back selection in a multivariable model with a 0.05 significance level.

* DUP= Duration of Untreated Psychosis (time from onset of psychosis to the time appropriate treatment is acquired), N/A= Not Applicable **Note, in this study the source of referral is not to the coordinated specialty care program but to the first mental health service contact (ER visit, psychiatric hospitalization, outpatient mental health contact or other). As such, only the help-seeking DUP (time from onset of psychosis to first mental health service contact) is reported. The overall DUP (time from onset of psychosis to OnTrackNY program admission) is not reported on since the source of referral to OnTrackNY is not evaluated.

	Complete data across variables in this table	Pre-imputation	Post-imputation
	(N=851)	(N=5199)	(N=5199)
Referral Source			
n	851	4979	5199
Self-referral	178 (20.9%)	1932 (38.8%)	2027 (39.0%)
Other Referral	673 (79.1%)	3047 (61.2%)	3172 (61.0%)
Time from referral to first appointment	t		
n	851	4469	5199
Mean (SD)	14.25 (32.51)	11.77 (31.9)	13.88 (34.9)
Age (years)			
n	851	4888	5199
Mean (SD)	19.11 (3.2)	19.22 (3.4)	19.31 (3.4)
11-15	103 (12.1%)	681 (13.9%)	693 (13.3%)
16-18	260 (30.6%)	1401 (28.7 %)	1458 (28.0%)
19-21	285 (33.5%)	1450 (29.7%)	1562 (30.0%)
22-25	203 (23.9%)	1356 (27.7%)	1486 (28.6%)
Gender			
n	851	4815	5199
Cis woman	483 (56.8%)	2647 (55.0%)	2843 (54.7%)
Cis man	290 (34.1%)	1875 (38.9%)	2027 (39.0%)
Gender-diverse	78 (9.2%)	293 (6.1%)	329 (6.3%)
Ethnic or cultural origins			
n	851	3429	5199
Indigenous	195 (22.9%)	963 (28.1%)	1177 (22.6%)
Visible minority	193 (22.6%)	818 (23.9%)	1184 (22.8%)
White	464 (54.5%)	1648 (48.1%)	2838 (54.6%)
Sexual orientation			
n	851	2530	5199
Heterosexual or straight	526 (61.8%)	1534 (60.6%)	3172 (61.0%)
Sexual minority	325 (38.2%)	996 (39.4%)	2027 (39.0%)
Presence of a reliable adult			
n	851	1695	5199
Reliable adult present	735 (86.4%)	1410 (83.2%)	4175 (80.3%)
No reliable adult present	116 (13.6%)	285 (16.8%)	1024 (19.7%)
Ability to meet basic needs	• • •	. /	· · · ·
n	851	2455	5199
No difficulty meeting basic needs	623 (73.2%)	1471 (59.9%)	3262 (62.7%)
Difficulty meeting basic needs	228 (26.8%)	984 (40.1%)	1937 (37.2%)

 Table 2. Participant characteristics upon entry to ACCESS Open Minds sites *

Education, employment, or training

Education, employment, or training			
n	851	3076	5199
In education, employment, or training	614 (72.2%)	2081 (67.7%)	3389 (65.2%)
Not in education, employment, or	237 (27.8%)	995 (32.3%)	1810 (34.8%)
training (NEET) Educational attainment			
	051	2624	5100
n	851	3624	5199
Less than secondary (high school) graduation	377 (44.3%)	1868 (51.5%)	2658 (51.1%)
Secondary school diploma or equivalent	378 (44.4%)	1427 (39.4%)	2053 (39.5%)
Post-secondary	96 (11.3%)	329 (9.1%)	488 (9.4%)
Severity of mental health problem(s)			
n	851	3763	5199
No-to-mild mental health problem	349 (41.0%)	1341 (35.6%)	1937 (37.3%)
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	502 (59.0%)	2422 (64.4%)	3262 (62.7%)
Level of social and occupational functioning			
n	851	3762	5199
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	514 (60.4%)	1886 (50.1%)	2694 (51.8%)
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with	337 (39.6%)	1876 (49.9%)	2505 (48.2%)
functioning	557 (551670)	10/0 (19.970)	2000 (10.270)
Previous non-ACCESS mental health			
service seeking	071	2007	5100
n	851	2987	5199
No service seeking in past year	365 (42.9%)	1286 (43.1%)	2191 (42.1%)
Previous service seeking in past year Previous ACCESS service seeking	486 (57.1%)	1701 (56.9%)	3008 (57.9%)
n	851	3945	5199
No previous contact with ACCESS	763 (89.7%)	3493 (88.5%)	4689 (90.2%)
Previous ACCESS evaluation Previous contact with ACCESS but no	51 (6.0%) 37 (4.3%)	291 (7.4%) 161 (4.1%)	324 (6.2%) 186 (3.6%)
evaluation	57 (4.570)	101 (4.170)	100 (0.070)
Time at entering service post-ACCESS			
implementation	0.51	51 00	5100
n	851	5199	5199
Months 1-6	64 (7.5%)	380 (7.3%)	380 (7.3%)
Months 7-12	65 (7.6%)	481 (9.3%)	481 (9.3%)
Months 13-18	130 (15.3%)	669 (12.9%)	669 (12.9%)
Months 19-24	112 (13.2%)	666 (12.8%)	666 (12.8%)
Months 25-30	133 (15.6%)	793 (15.3%)	793 (15.3%)
Months 31-36	120 (14.1%)	754 (14.5%)	754 (14.5%)
Months 37-42	227 (26.7%)	1456 (28.0%)	1456 (28.0%)
Arrived pre-or post-COVID-19 pandemic	~		
n	851	5199	5199
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	796 (93.5%)	4519 (86.9%)	4519 (86.9%)
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	55 (6.5%)	680 (13.1%)	680 (13.1%)
*Notes:			

- The sample of 851 includes all young people from the 11 participating sites who received a first appointment between March 2016 and December 2020 who had complete data across all variables.
- The sample of 5199 includes all young people from the 11 participating sites who received a first appointment evaluation between March 2016 and December 2020.
- *All Ns post imputation represent the average across 60 imputed datasets and are rounded to the nearest whole number*
- Referral source: other referral source pre-imputation is comprised of: ACCESS Open Minds (n=32), Community organization (n=564), Primary/secondary/Tertiary Educational Institution (n=290), Employment, social services and child welfare (n=24), Primary care setting (n=114), Secondary/tertiary care setting (n=88), ER/ED/Hospitalization (n=17), Family/Friend (n=703), Social worker in an unspecified setting (n=205), Doctor or nurse in an unspecified setting (n=980), Law enforcement (police, probation officer, restorative justice) (n=30), Other (n=33). Descriptions of each of these categories can be found in the supplement. The proportion of young people self-referring differed by site from ~6% to ~77%.
- Age: Two sites, Edmonton and University of Alberta, only served those between 16 and 25 years.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options, and prefer not to answer.
- Ethnic or cultural origins: Visible minority pre-imputation included: Arab (n=77, 9.4%), Black (n=186, 22.7%), Chinese (n=60, 7.3%), Filipino (n=46, 5.5%), Japanese (n=4, 0.5%), Korean (n=3, 0.4%), Latin American (n=91, 11.1%), South Asian (n=103, 12.6%), Southeast Asian (n=25, 3.1%), West Asian (n=18, 2.2%), other ethnicity (n =146, 17.9%), multiple ethnicities (n=59, 7.2%). Pre imputation, 7.8%, and post imputation, 12.6%, of Indigenous young people accessed services from non-Indigenous sites.
- Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.
- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking: this represents the seeking or use of no ACCESS mental health services in the 12 months prior to the first appointment.
- The variable Arrived pre-or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

The total analytical sample (n=4421)	Self-referral (n=1738)	Other referral (n=2683)	P-value for Pearson's χ^2
19.40 (3.39)	20.39 (2.73)	18.75 (3.61)	
554 (12.5%)	45 (2.6%)	509 (19.0%)	<0.001
1224 (27.7%)	423 (24.3%)	801(30.0%)	
1351 (30.6%)	649.5 (37.4%)	702 (26.2%)	
1292 (30.6%)	621 (35.7%)	671 (25.0%)	
2383 (53.9%)	931 (53.5%)	1452 (54.1%)	0.90
1748 (39.5%)	674 (38.8%)	1074 (40.0%)	
290 (6.6%)	134 (7.7%)	157 (5.8%)	
992 (22.4%)	414 (23.8%)	578 (21.5%)	0.01
1017 (23.0%)	355 (20.4%)	662 (24.7%)	
2412 (54.5%)	969 (55.7%)	1443 (53.8%)	
2693 (60.9%)	1071 (61.6%)	1622 (60.5%)	0.46
1728 (39.1%)	667 (38.4%)	1061 (39.5%)	
3548 (80.2%)	1336 (76.8%)	2212 (82.5%)	0.04
873 (19.8%)	403 (23.2%)	471 (17.5%)	
2690 (60.8%)	1040 (59.8%)	1650 (61.5%)	0.33
1731 (39.2%)	698.2 (40.2%)	1033 (38.5%)	
2863 (64.8%)	1024 (58.9%)	1839 (68.6%)	<0.001
1558 (35.2%)	714 (41.1%)	843 (31.4%)	
			0.001
		. ,	<0.001
		`	
420 (9.3%)	230 (13.2%)	189 (7.1%)	
1579 (35.7%)	588 (33.8%)	001(26.00/)	0.07
1)/91))//01	200(22.0%)	991 (36.9%)	0.07
2842 (64.3%)	1150 (66.2%)	1692 (63.1%)	
	analytical sample (n=4421) 19.40 (3.39) 554 (12.5%) 1224 (27.7%) 1351 (30.6%) 1292 (30.6%) 2383 (53.9%) 1748 (39.5%) 290 (6.6%) 992 (22.4%) 1017 (23.0%) 2412 (54.5%) 2693 (60.9%) 1728 (39.1%) 3548 (80.2%) 873 (19.8%) 2690 (60.8%) 1731 (39.2%) 2863 (64.8%) 1558 (35.2%) 1561 (35.3%) 668 (15.1%) 1772 (40.1%) 420 (9.5%)	analytical sample (n=4421)(n=1738)19.40 (3.39) 20.39 (2.73)554 (12.5%) 45 (2.6%)1224 (27.7%) 423 (24.3%)1351 (30.6%) 649.5 (37.4%)1292 (30.6%) 621 (35.7%)2383 (53.9%) 931 (53.5%)1748 (39.5%) 674 (38.8%)290 (6.6%)134 (7.7%)992 (22.4%) 414 (23.8%)1017 (23.0%) 355 (20.4%)2412 (54.5%)969 (55.7%)2693 (60.9%)1071 (61.6%)1728 (39.1%)667 (38.4%)3548 (80.2%)1336 (76.8%)873 (19.8%)403 (23.2%)2690 (60.8%)1040 (59.8%)1731 (39.2%)698.2 (40.2%)2863 (64.8%)1024 (58.9%)1558 (35.2%)714 (41.1%)1561 (35.3%)369 (21.2%)668 (15.1%)257 (14.8%)1772 (40.1%)882 (50.7%)420 (9.5%)230 (13.2%)	analytical sample (n=4421)(n=1738)(n=2683)19.40 (3.39)20.39 (2.73)18.75 (3.61) 554 (12.5%)45 (2.6%)509 (19.0%)1224 (27.7%)423 (24.3%)801(30.0%)1351 (30.6%)649.5 (37.4%)702 (26.2%)1292 (30.6%)621 (35.7%)671 (25.0%)2383 (53.9%)931 (53.5%)1452 (54.1%)1748 (39.5%)674 (38.8%)1074 (40.0%)290 (6.6%)134 (7.7%)157 (5.8%)992 (22.4%)414 (23.8%)578 (21.5%)1017 (23.0%)355 (20.4%)662 (24.7%)2412 (54.5%)969 (55.7%)1443 (53.8%)2693 (60.9%)1071 (61.6%)1622 (60.5%)1728 (39.1%)667 (38.4%)1061 (39.5%)3548 (80.2%)1336 (76.8%)2212 (82.5%)873 (19.8%)1040 (59.8%)1650 (61.5%)1731 (39.2%)698.2 (40.2%)1033 (38.5%)2863 (64.8%)1024 (58.9%)1839 (68.6%)1558 (35.2%)714 (41.1%)843 (31.4%)1561 (35.3%)369 (21.2%)1191 (44.4%)668 (15.1%)257 (14.8%)411 (15.3%)1772 (40.1%)882 (50.7%)891(33.2%)420 (9.5%)230 (13.2%)189 (7.1%)

Table 3. Comparison of participant characteristics for those who self-referred and those who did not during the first42 months of program implementation

No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	2272 (51.4%)	1030 (59.2%)	1242 (46.3%)	<0.001
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with	2149 (48.6%)	708 (40.8%)	1441 (53.7%)	
functioning				
Previous mental health service seeking				
No previous service seeking in the past year	1668 (37.7%)	678 (39.0%)	990.0 (36.9%)	0.28
Previous ACCESS assessment	226 (5.1%)	89 (5.1%)	136.9 (5.1%)	
Previous ACCESS contact with no assessment	147 (3.3%)	45 (2.6%)	102 (3.8%)	
Previous service seeking in the past year, but not at ACCESS	2380 (53.8%)	926 (53.3%)	1454 (54.2%)	
Time at entering service post-ACCESS				
implementation				
Months 1-6	380 (8.6%)	85 (4.9%)	295 (11.0%)	<0.001
Months 7-12	481 (10.9%)	138 (7.9%)	343 (12.8%)	
Months 13-18	669 (15.1%)	228 (13.1%)	441 (16.5%)	
Months 19-24	666 (15.1%)	268 (15.4%)	398 (14.9%)	
Months 25-30	793 (17.9%)	345 (19.9%)	447 (16.7%)	
Months 31-36	754 (17.1%)	380 (21.9%)	374 (13.9%)	
Months 37-42	678 (15.3%)	294 (16.9%)	384 (14.3%)	
Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic				
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	4356 (98.5%)	1720 (98.9%)	2635.9 (98.3%)	0.07
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	65 (1.5%)	18 (1.1%)	47 (1.7%)	

*Notes:

• The total analytical sample of 4421 represents the sample of 5199 from Table 1, excluding those who came to ACCESS after the 42^{nd} month of site-specific program implementation (n=778)

- See Table 9 in the supplement for a description of the analytical sample with complete data across the variables presented in this table (n=787)
- All Ns post imputation represent the average across 60 imputed datasets and are rounded to the nearest whole number.
- Precents may not add to 100 due to rounding to one decimal place.
- *Referral source: the proportion of young people self-referring varied by site from ~6% to 75%.*
- Age: Two sites, Edmonton and University of Alberta, only served those between 16 and 25 years.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options and prefer not to answer.
- Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.
- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well

as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.

• The variable Arrived pre-or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1, 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

	n (%)	Mean days from referral to first appointment (SD)	Median days from referral to first appointment (IQR)
Total analytical sample	4421 (100%)	14.23 (36.49)	0.30 (0.00-11.92)
Referral Source			
Self-referral	1738 (%)	7.26 (30.93)	0.00 (0.00-0.00)
Other referral	2683 (%)	18.74 (39.01)	6.00 (0.00-18.96)
Age (years)	554 (12 50/)	2(2(45.45)	12.00 (2.00.20.85)
11-15	554 (12.5%)	26.3 (45.45)	12.09 (2.99-29.85)
16-18	1224 (27.7%)	13.77 (30.78)	3.00 (0.00-13.29)
19-21	1351 (30.6%)	11.35 (34.56)	0.00 (0.00-7.00)
22-25	1292 (30.6%)	12.48 (37.98)	0.00 (0.00-6.99)
Gender			
Cis woman	2383 (53.9%)	15.78 (38.77)	1.55 (0.00-13.72)
Cis man	1748 (39.5%)	12.97 (34.00)	0.00 (0.00-10.07)
Gender-diverse	290 (6.6%)	9.08 (30.12)	0.00 (0.00-6.00)
Ethnic or cultural origins			
Indigenous	992 (22.4%)	20.07 (47.51)	3.43 (0.00-19.59)
Visible minority	1017 (23.0%)	15.91 (35.88)	1.16 (0.00-14.34)
White	2412 (54.5%)	11.12 (30.65)	0.00 (0.00-8.00)
Sexual orientation			
Heterosexual	2693 (60.9%)	14.75 (36.42)	1.00 (0.00-13.10)
Sexual minority	1728 (39.1%)	13.42 (36.47)	0.00 (0.00-9.49)
Presence of reliable adult			
Reliable adult present	3548 (80.2%)	15.00 (37.36)	1.23 (0.00-13.10)
No reliable adult present	873 (19.7%)	11.11 (32.24)	0.00 (0.00-6.83)
Ability to meet basic needs			· · · ·
No difficulty meeting basic needs	2690 (60.8%)	15.89 (37.94)	1.88 (0.00-14.02)
Difficulty meeting basic needs	1731 (39.2%)	11.64 (33.80)	0.00 (0.00-7.70)
Education, employment, or training	~ /	~ /	, ,
In education, employment, or training	2863 (64.8%)	16.47 (38.47)	2.80 (0.00-14.78)
Not in education, employment, or training (NEET)	1558 (35.2%)	10.11 (31.96)	0.00 (0.00-6.00)
Age-adjusted educational attainment			
Less than secondary, not at an age where secondary expected	1561 (35.3%)	18.67 (37.85)	6.91 (0.00-19.68)
Less than secondary, at an age where secondary expected	668 (15.1%)	12.37 (36.63)	0.00 (0.00-7.15)
Secondary (Highschool or equivalent)	1772 (40.1%)	10.70 (33.53)	0.00 (0.00-6.32)
Post-secondary	420 (9.5%)	15.57 (40.52)	0.00 (0.00-10.00)

Table 4. *Wait-time from referral to first appointment: sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the sample* (*N*=4421)

Severity of mental health problem(s)			
No-to-mild mental health problem	1579 (35.7%)	13.3 (34.8)	1.52 (0.00- 11.88)
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	2842 (64.3%)	14.7 (37.3)	0.00 (0.00- 11.78)
Level of social and occupational functioning			
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	2272 (51.4%)	14.19 (38.64)	0.00 (0.00-10.98)
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with functioning	2149 (48.6%)	14.27 (34.02)	1.00 (0.00-12.74)
Previous mental health service seeking			
No previous service seeking in the past year	1668 (37.7%)	13.74 (36.09)	1.19 (0.00-11.77)
Previous ACCESS assessment	226 (5.1%)	26.00 (47.47)	8.02 (0.00-25.15)
Previous contact with ACCESS with no assessment	147 (3.3%)	19.19 (31.14)	7.76 (0.00-21.51)
Previous service seeking in the past year, but not at ACCESS	2380 (53.8%)	13.16 (35.55)	0.00 (0.00-8.94)
Time at entering service post-ACCESS			
implementation		22.04 (50.25)	4.50 (0.00, 17, 21)
Months 1-6	380 (8.6%)	23.04 (50.37)	4.59 (0.00-17.31)
Months 7-12	481 (10.9%)	20.90 (45.91)	4.32 (0.00-15.98)
Months 13-18	669 (15.1%)	12.44 (28.68)	0.00 (0.00-10.47)
Months 19-24	666 (15.1%)	12.91 (37.22)	0.00 (0.00-12.98)
Months 25-30	793 (17.9%)	11.40 (34.09)	0.00 (0.00-10.92)
Months 31-36	754 (17.1%)	12.63 (34.30)	0.00 (0.00-7.15)
Months 37-42	678 (15.3%)	12.70 (28.53)	0.54 (0.00-10.20)
Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic			
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	4356 (98.5%)	14.06 (36.47)	0.07 (0.00-11.25)
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	65 (1.5%)	25.42 (35.73)	12.72 (0.00-37.28)

*Notes:

1/1

• The total analytical sample of 4421 represents the sample of 5199 from table 1, excluding those who came to ACCESS after the 42^{nd} month of program implementation (n=778).

• See Table 9 in the supplement for a description of the analytical sample with complete data across the variables presented in this table (n=764). Note: the loss of 23 young people between aim one and aim two is due to missing data on the time to first appointment.

- All Ns post imputation represents the average across 60 imputed datasets and are rounded to the nearest whole number.
- Means and standard deviations (SD), as well as medians and interquartile ranges (IQR), were calculated on each of the 60 imputed datasets and pooled using Rubin's Rule.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options, and prefer not to answer.
- Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.

- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.
- The variable Arrived at ACCESS pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

Variable	Adjusted Odds Ratio (OR)	95% Confidence Inter (CI)	val p-value
Age (years)	1.10	1.06-1.14	<0.001
Gender			
Cis woman	Ref.		
Cis man	0.91	0.77-1.07	0.25
Gender-diverse	0.96	0.70-1.31	0.79
Ethnic or cultural origins			
White	Ref.		
Visible minority	1.08	0.86-1.35	0.52
Indigenous	0.93	0.72-1.22	0.61
Sexual orientation			
Heterosexual	Ref.		
Sexual minority	0.81	0.67-0.98	0.03
Presence of reliable adult			
Reliable adult present	Ref.		
No reliable adult present	1.16	0.84-1.60	0.37
Ability to meet basic needs			
No difficulty meeting basic needs	Ref.		
Difficulty meeting basic needs	1.14	0.91-1.43	0.25
Education, employment, or training			
In education, employment, or training	Ref.		
Not in education, employment, or training (NEET)	1.13	0.85-1.49	0.41
Age-adjusted educational attainment			
Less than secondary, not at an age where secondary expected	Ref.		
Less than secondary, at an age where secondary expected	1.42	1.02-1.98	0.04
Secondary (Highschool or equivalent)	1.28	0.99-1.65	0.06
Post-secondary	1.45	0.98-2.15	0.06
Severity of mental health problem(s)			
No-to-mild mental health problem	Ref.		
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	0.95	0.78-1.16	0.62
Level of social and occupational functioning			
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	Ref.		
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with functioning	0.81	0.65-0.99	0.04
Previous mental health service seeking			
No previous service seeking in the past year	Ref.		
Previous ACCESS assessment	2.28	1.61-3.24	<0.001
Previous contact with ACCESS with no assessment	1.14	0.73-1.78	0.57
Previous service seeking in the past year, but not at ACCESS	0.98	0.79-1.22	0.88

Table 5. Estimated effect of sociodemographic, clinical, and service use factors on referral source (N=4421)

Time at entering service post-ACCESS			
implementation			
Per 6-month increase in time since program	1.09	1.05-1.14	<0.001
implementation			
Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic			
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	Ref.		
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	0.66	0.32-1.39	0.28

*Notes:

• OR =Odds ratio

• The presented results of logistic regression adjusted for all covariates listed in the table.

- The adjusted logistic regression analysis with multilevel modelling was run on each of the 60 imputed data sets and results were pooled using Rubin's Rule.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options, and prefer not to answer.
- Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.
- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.
- The variable Arrived at pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

	Adjusted Time Ratio (TR)	95% Confidence Interval (CI)
Referral Source		
Other Referral	Ref.	
Self-referral	0.70	0.65-0.76
Age (years)	1.00	0.98-1.01
Gender		
Cis woman	Ref.	
Cis man	0.99	0.93-1.06
Gender-diverse	0.99	0.87-1.13
Ethnic or cultural origins		
White	Ref.	
Visible minority	0.99	0.90-1.09
Indigenous	1.01	0.90-1.13
Sexual orientation		
Heterosexual	Ref.	
Sexual minority	0.98	0.89-1.07
Presence of reliable adult		
Reliable adult present	Ref.	
No reliable adult present	0.95	0.85-1.06
Ability to meet basic needs		
No difficulty meeting basic needs	Ref.	
Difficulty meeting basic needs	1.00	0.90-1.10
Education, employment, or training		
In education, employment, or training	Ref.	
Not in education, employment, or training (NEET)	0.94	0.86-1.02
Age-adjusted educational attainment		
Less than secondary, not at an age where secondary expected	Ref.	
Less than secondary, at an age where secondary expected	0.99	0.86-1.14
Secondary (Highschool or equivalent)	0.97	0.87-1.08
Post-secondary	1.02	0.87-1.20
Severity of mental health problem(s)		
No-to-mild mental health problem	Ref.	
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	1.10	1.01-1.19
Level of social and occupational functioning		
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	Ref.	
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with functioning	0.99	0.91-1.08

Table 6. Estimated effect of referral source, sociodemographic, clinical, and service use factors on time from referralto first appointment (N=4221) *

Previous mental health service seeking

No previous service seeking in the past year	Ref.	
Previous ACCESS assessment	1.21	1.02-1.44
Previous contact with ACCESS with no assessment	1.14	0.94-1.39
Previous service seeking in the past year, but not at ACCESS Time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation	1.12	1.03-1.22
Per 6 months increase in time since program implementation Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic	0.98	0.97-1.00
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	Ref.	
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	1.16	0.90-1.49

*Notes:

- The presented results of the accelerated failure time model adjusted for all covariates listed in the table.
- The adjusted accelerated failure time model with multilevel modelling was run on each of the 60 imputed data sets and results were pooled using Rubin's Rule.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options, and prefer not to answer.
- *Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.*
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.
- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.
- The variable Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

	Adjusted Time Ratio (TR)	95% Confidence Interval (CI)
Referral Source		
Other Referral	Ref.	
Self-referral	0.64	0.60-0.68
Age (years)		
Gender		
Cis woman	Ref.	
Cis man	0.98	0.92-1.04
Gender-diverse	1.01	0.90-1.12
Ethnic or cultural origins		
White	Ref.	
Visible minority	1.03	0.95-1.11
Indigenous	1.04	0.94-1.15
Sexual orientation		
Heterosexual	Ref.	
Sexual minority	0.96	0.90-1.04
Presence of reliable adult		
Reliable adult present	Ref.	
No reliable adult present	1.02	0.94-1.11
Ability to meet basic needs		
No difficulty meeting basic needs	Ref.	
Difficulty meeting basic needs	0.95	0.87-1.04
Education, employment, or training		
In education, employment, or training	Ref.	
Not in education, employment, or training (NEET)	0.93	0.86-1.00
Age-adjusted educational attainment		
Less than secondary, not at an age where secondary expected	Ref.	
Less than secondary, at an age where secondary expected	0.92	0.82-1.04
Secondary (Highschool or equivalent)	0.93	0.84-1.02
Post-secondary	0.96	0.84-1.10
Severity of mental health problem(s)		
No-to-mild mental health problem	Ref.	
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	1.04	0.97-1.11
Level of social and occupational functioning		
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	Ref.	
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with functioning	1.04	0.97-1.12

Table 7. Estimated effect of referral source, sociodemographic, clinical, and service use factors on time fromreferral to first successful contact with young people (N=4421) *

Previous mental health service seeking

No previous service seeking in the past year	Ref.	
Previous ACCESS assessment	1.04	0.90-1.21
Previous contact with ACCESS with no assessment	1.05	0.88-1.25
Previous service seeking in the past year, but not at ACCESS Time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation	1.06	0.98-1.13
Per 6 months increase in time since program implementation Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic	0.98	0.96-1.00
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	Ref.	
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	1.33	1.06-1.67

*Note:

- The presented results of the accelerated failure time model adjusted for all covariates listed in the table.
- The adjusted accelerated failure time model with multilevel modelling was run on each of the 60 imputed data sets and results were pooled using Rubin's Rule.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options and prefer not to answer.
- *Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.*
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.
- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.
- The variable Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

	Adjusted Time Ratio (TR)	95% Confidence Interval (CI)
Referral Source	()	(**)
Other Referral	Ref.	
Self-referral	0.99	0.93-1.04
Age (years)		
Gender		
Cis woman	Ref.	
Cis man	0.99	0.95-1.04
Gender-diverse	0.99	0.90-1.08
Ethnic or cultural origins		
White	Ref	
Visible minority	1.02	0.95-1.10
Indigenous	0.99	0.92-1.06
Sexual orientation		
Heterosexual	Ref.	
Sexual minority	0.98	0.92-1.05
Presence of reliable adult		
Reliable adult present	Ref.	
No reliable adult present	0.95	0.88-1.03
Ability to meet basic needs		
No difficulty meeting basic needs	Ref.	
Difficulty meeting basic needs	1.00	0.93-1.07
Education, employment, or training		
In education, employment, or training	Ref.	
Not in education, employment, or training (NEET)	0.99	0.93-1.05
Age-adjusted educational attainment		
Less than secondary, not at an age where secondary expected	Ref.	
Less than secondary, at an age where secondary expected	0.98	0.89-1.09
Secondary (Highschool or equivalent)	0.99	0.91-1.07
Post-secondary	0.97	0.86-1.09
Severity of mental health problem(s)		
No-to-mild mental health problem	Ref.	
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	1.07	1.01-1.13
Level of social and occupational functioning		
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	Ref.	
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with functioning	0.98	0.92-1.04

Table 8. Estimated effect of referral source, sociodemographic, clinical, and service use factors on time fromcontact with young people to first offered appointment $(N=4421)^*$

Previous mental health service seeking

No previous service seeking in the past year	Ref.	
Previous ACCESS assessment	1.09	0.96-1.23
Previous contact with ACCESS with no assessment	1.15	1.00-1.34
Previous services seeking in the past year, but not at ACCESS Time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation	1.05	0.99-1.11
Per 6 months increase in time since program implementation	1.01	1.00-1.02
Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic		
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	Ref.	
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	0.98	0.79-1.22

*Note:

• The presented results of the accelerated failure time model adjusted for all covariates listed in the table.

- The adjusted accelerated failure time model with multilevel modelling was run on each of the 60 imputed data sets and results were pooled using Rubin's Rule.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options and prefer not to answer.
- Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.
- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.
- The variable Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

	Adjusted Time Ratio (TR)	95% Confidence Interval (CI)
Referral Source		
Other Referral	Ref.	
Self-referral	0.97	0.93-1.02
Age (years)	1.00	0.99-1.01
Gender		
Cis woman	Ref.	
Cis man	0.98	0.94-1.02
Gender-diverse	0.98	0.90-1.06
Ethnic or cultural origins		
White	Ref	
Visible minority	0.98	0.93-1.03
Indigenous	1.01	0.95-1.08
Sexual orientation		
Heterosexual	Ref.	
Sexual minority	1.00	0.96-1.05
Presence of reliable adult		
Reliable adult present	Ref.	
No reliable adult present	0.99	0.94-1.05
Ability to meet basic needs		
No difficulty meeting basic needs	Ref.	
Difficulty meeting basic needs	1.03	0.97-1.09
Education, employment, or training		
In education, employment, or training	Ref.	
Not in education, employment, or training (NEET)	0.99	0.94-1.04
Age-adjusted educational attainment		
Less than secondary, not at an age where secondary expected	Ref.	
Less than secondary, at an age where secondary expected	1.06	0.97-1.15
Secondary (Highschool or equivalent)	1.04	0.97-1.11
Post-secondary	1.07	0.97-1.18
Severity of mental health problem(s)		
No-to-mild mental health problem	Ref.	
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	1.02	0.97-1.07
Level of social and occupational functioning		
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	Ref.	
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with functioning	0.99	0.94-1.04

Table 9. Estimated effect of referral source, sociodemographic, clinical, and service use factors on time from offeredappointment to first appointment $(N=4421)^*$

Previous mental health service seeking

0		
No previous service seeking in the past year	Ref.	
Previous ACCESS assessment	1.11	0.99-1.23
Previous contact with ACCESS with no assessment	1.03	0.91-1.16
Previous services seeking in the past year, but not at ACCESS Time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation	1.03	0.99-1.08
Per 6 months increase in time since program implementation	1.01	1.00-1.02
Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic		
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	Ref.	
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	0.91	0.77-1.06

*Note:

• The presented results of the accelerated failure time model adjusted for all covariates listed in the table.

- The adjusted accelerated failure time model with multilevel modelling was run on each of the 60 imputed data sets and results were pooled using Rubin's Rule.
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options and prefer not to answer.
- *Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.*
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.
- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous
- ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.
- The variable Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.

Figure 1. Flow chart describing study sample and analyzable sample



Figure 2. Wait time from referral to first appointment







*Notes:

- All 4421 young people presented in this graph were considered 'at risk' of having their first appointment; 1738 self-referred and 2683 had another referral
- Survival probabilities were calculated on each of the 60 imputed datasets and pooled using Rubin's Rule.

Supplemental Material

Category	Description/examples
ACCESS Open Minds	Referral coming from anyone working at an ACCESS OM site (e.g., ACCESS peer navigation worker, ACCESS research assistant, ACCESS
Community organization	counsellor) Unspecified community organization, specific community organization (e.g., Dans la rue/a soup kitchen, shelter and school for homeless young people, bridging the gap program, community social work team, court support worker)
Educational institution	Referral coming from a primary, secondary, or post-secondary school environment (e.g., School counsellor/teacher, campus food bank, campus sexual assault center, student services)
Employment, social services, and child welfare	Department of youth protection: Batshaw, child and family services, foster care worker, Ontario works, Alberta works, group home, youth center
Primary care setting	CLSC, Guichet Access Santé Mentale Jeunesse, CAFÉ
Secondary/tertiary care setting	Mental health professional in unspecified setting (e.g., therapist, psychoeducator, psychiatrist, sexologist), addictions services/ workers/ counselors, ISD, PEPP, Clinique JAP
Emergency room/emergency department 'Hospitalization Family/friend	Any referral coming from the emergency department or after hospitalization barring those linked to specialty tertiary services Family, friends, carers, partners, previous ACCESS service users
Social worker in unspecified setting	Any social worker coming from an unspecified setting
Doctor/nurse in unspecified setting	Any doctor or nurse coming from an unspecified setting
Law enforcement	Police officer, probation officer, detention center, restorative justice worker

 Table S 1. Description of categories within the 'other referral' category
	Missing referral source (n=198)	Self-referral (n=1650)	Other referral (n=2573)
Time from referral to first appointment (days)			
Available (n=3898)	117	1568	2213
Missing (n=523)	81	82	360
Age (years)			
Available (n=4420)	190	1469	2561
Missing (n=201)	8	181	12
Gender			
Available (n=4150)	148	1443	2559
Missing (n=271)	50	207	14
Ethnic or cultural origins			
Available (n=3048)	109	1218	1721
Missing (n=1373)	89	432	852
Sexual orientation			
Available (n=2373)	69	110	1204
Missing (n=2048)	129	550	1369
Presence of reliable adult			
Available (n=1471)	58	269	1144
Missing (n=2950)	140	1381	1429
Ability to meet basic needs			
Available (n=2215)	68	1010	1137
Missing (n=2206)	130	640	1436
Education, employment, or training			
Available (n=2648)	97	516	2035
Missing (n=1773)	101	1134	538
Age-adjusted educational attainment			
Available (n=3211)	101	1186	1924
Missing (n=1210)	97	464	649
Severity of mental health problem(s)			
Available (n=3319)	108	1188	2023
Missing (n=1102)	90	462	550
Level of social and occupational functioning			
Available (n=3333)	111	1186	2036
Missing (n=1088)	87	464	537
Previously sought mental health services			
Available (n=2431)	68	454	1909
Missing (n=1990)	130	1196	664

 Table S 2. Missingness among all variables across the analytic sample (N=4421)

Time of entering service post-ACCESS			
implementation			
Available (n=4421)	198	1650	2573
Missing (n=0)	N/A	N/A	N/A
COVID-19 Pandemic			
Available (n=4421)	198	1650	2573
Missing (n=0)	N/A	N/A	N/A

	Complete case sample for aim I (N=787)	Complete case sample for aim II (N=764)
Referral Source		
Self-referral	157 (19.9%)	157 (20.5%)
Other referral	630 (80.1%)	607 (79.5%)
Time to first appointment		
Mean (SD)	N/A	14.73 (34.15)
Age (years)		
Mean (SD)	19.22 (3.22)	19.20 (3.22)
11-15	95 (12.1%)	93 (12.2%)
16-18	224 (28.5%)	220 (28.8%)
19-21	266 (33.8%)	257 (33.6%)
22-25	202 (25.7%)	194 (25.4%)
Gender		
Cis woman	448 (56.9%)	430 (56.3%)
Cis man	263 (33.4%)	260 (34.0%)
Gender-diverse	76 (9.7%)	74 (9.7%)
Ethnic or cultural origins		
Indigenous	177 (22.5%)	176 (23.0%)
White	419 (53.2%)	406 (53.1%)
Visible minority	191 (24.3%)	182 (23.8%)
Sexual orientation		
Heterosexual or straight	479 (60.9%)	469 (61.4%)
Sexual minority	308 (39.1%)	295 (38.6%)
Presence of reliable adult		
Reliable adult present	679 (86.3%)	657 (86.0%)
No reliable adult present	108 (13.7%)	107 (14.0%)
Ability to meet basic needs		
No difficulty meeting basic needs	567 (72.0%)	553 (72.4%)
Difficulty meeting basic needs	220 (28.0%)	211 (27.6%)
Education, employment, or training		
In education, employment, or training	556 (71.9%)	550 (72.0%)
Not in education, employment, or training (NEET)	221 (28.1%)	214 (28.0%)
Age-adjusted educational attainment		
Less than secondary, not at an age where secondary expected	260 (33.0%)	257 (33.6%)
Less than secondary, at an age where secondary expected	74 (9.4%)	72 (9.4%)
Secondary (Highschool or equivalent)	354 (45.0%)	334 (45.0%)
Post-secondary	99 (12.6%)	91 (11.9%)

Table S 3. Comparing participant characteristics for those with complete data for all variables involved in aim I and aim II, respectively

Severity of mental health problem(s)		
No-to-mild mental health problem	316 (40.2%)	310 (40.6%)
Moderate-to-severe mental health problem	471 (59.8%)	454 (59.4%)
Level of social and occupational functioning		
No-to-mild difficulty with functioning	492 (62.5%)	474 (62.0%)
Moderate-to-significant difficulty with functioning	295 (37.5%)	290 (38.0%)
Previous mental health service seeking		
No previous service seeking in the past year	301 (38.2%)	298 (39.0%)
Previous ACCESS assessment	53 (6.7%)	44 (5.8%)
Previous contact with ACCESS with no assessment	33 (4.2%)	32 (4.2%)
Previous service seeking in the past year, but not at	400 (50.8%)	390 (51.0%)
ACCESS		
Time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation		
Months 1-6	70 (8.9%)	64 (8.4%)
Months 7-12	72 (9.1%)	65 (8.5%)
Months 13-18	132 (16.8%)	130 (17.0%)
Months 19-24	115 (14.6%)	114 (14.9%)
Months 25-30	139 (17.7%)	136 (17.8%)
Months 31-36	121 (15.4%)	121 (15.8%)
Months 37-42	138 (17.5%)	134 (17.5%)
Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic		
Arrived at ACCESS pre-pandemic	773 (98.2%)	754 (98.7%)
Arrived at ACCESS post-pandemic	14 (1.8%)	10 (1.3%)

*Note:

- While the available analytical sample includes 4421 young people, 3619 participants were missing at least one of the covariates: age, gender, ethnic and cultural origins, sexual orientation, presence of a reliable adult, ability to meet basic expenses, education, employment or training, age-adjusted educational attainment, severity of mental health problem(s) (measured by transdiagnostic Clinical Global Impression scale), level of functioning (measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Scale), previous mental health service seeking, time at entering service post-ACCESS implementation, Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 pandemic. An additional 15 people were missing data on the referral source, yielding a complete case analysis sample of 787 (4421-3619-15), for aim I; 38 participants were missing both data on the referral source and the time from referral to first appointment, resulting in a complete case analysis sample of 764 for aim II.
- Precents may not add to 100 due to rounding to one decimal place.
- SD= standard deviation
- Gender: gender diverse is comprised of: Trans woman, Trans man, Gender fluid, I don't identify with these options and prefer not to answer.
- Ability to meet basic needs: basic needs include access to food, shelter, and clothing.
- Age-adjusted educational attainment: this variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: age and educational attainment, which are displayed in table 1. The age at which secondary education is expected to be achieved varies by province (17 in Quebec and 18 across the other provinces). A two-year buffer was added as to not penalize those who may have taken longer to complete their secondary education. As a result, in Quebec those 19 years old+ were expected to have achieved a secondary diploma, while those in all other provinces were expected to have completed this milestone by the age of 20.
- Severity of mental health problem(s): measured by Clinical Global Impression of Severity scale, scores between 4 7 are indicative of moderate-to-severe mental health problems.

- Level of social and occupational functioning: measured by the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale, scores under 61 are indicative of moderate to significant difficulties with functioning.
- Previous mental health service seeking: This variable was created post imputation using information from the variables: Previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking and Previous ACCESS service seeking (displayed in table 1). Those who had both previously sought non-ACCESS mental health services as well as ACCESS services were categorized under previous ACCESS service seeking (n=258). Of those with previous non-ACCESS mental health service seeking in the past year, 158 had been evaluated at ACCESS and 100 had contacted ACCESS but had not been evaluated.
- The variable Arrived pre- or post-COVID-19 Pandemic is used to distinguish between young people who arrived at ACCESS prior to March 1 2020, the month the global COVID-19 pandemic was declared, and those who arrived after this date.



Figure S 1. Predicted median wait time from referral to first appointment by referral source and Clinical Global Impressions (CGI) score*

*Note:

• Among the 1738 young people self-referred, 61 had a CGI score of 1, 145 had a CGI score of 2, 383 had a CGI score of 3, 667 had a CGI score of 4, 415 had a CGI score of 5, 63 had a CGI score of 6, 5 had a CGI score of 7. Among the 2683 young people referred by a different source, 76 had a CGI score of 1, 297 had a CGI score of 2, 618 had a CGI score of 3, 938 had a CGI score of 4, 576 had a CGI score of 5, 154 had a CGI score of 6, 24 had a CGI score of 7 (all ns are rounded to nearest whole number as they represent the average across 60 imputed datasets).

Bibliography

 Malla A, Shah J, Iyer S, Boksa P, Joober R, Andersson N, et al. Youth mental health should be a top priority for health care in Canada. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2018;63(4):216-22.

2. McGorry PD, Purcell R, Hickie IB, Jorm AF. Investing in youth mental health is a best buy. Medical Journal of Australia. 2007;187(S7):S5-S7.

 Solmi M, Radua J, Olivola M, Croce E, Soardo L, Salazar de Pablo G, et al. Age at onset of mental disorders worldwide: large-scale meta-analysis of 192 epidemiological studies.
 Molecular psychiatry. 2022;27(1):281-95.

4. Malla A, Iyer S, McGorry P, Cannon M, Coughlan H, Singh S, et al. From early intervention in psychosis to youth mental health reform: a review of the evolution and transformation of mental health services for young people. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2016;51:319-26.

5. Fusar-Poli P. Integrated mental health services for the developmental period (0 to 25 years): a critical review of the evidence. Front Psychiatry. 2019; 10: 355. 2019.

McGorry P, Bates T, Birchwood M. Designing youth mental health services for the 21st century: examples from Australia, Ireland and the UK. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2013;202(s54):s30-s5.

7. Appleton R, Connell C, Fairclough E, Tuomainen H, Singh SP. Outcomes of young people who reach the transition boundary of child and adolescent mental health services: a systematic review. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2019;28(11):1431-46.

8. Malla A, Iyer S, Shah J, Joober R, Boksa P, Lal S, et al. Canadian response to need for transformation of youth mental health services: ACCESS Open Minds (Esprits ouverts). Early Interv Psychiatry. 2019;13(3):697-706.

9. Rocks S, Glogowska M, Stepney M, Tsiachristas A, Fazel M. Introducing a single point of access (SPA) to child and adolescent mental health services in England: a mixed-methods observational study. BMC health services research. 2020;20:1-11.

10. Clark BA, Veale JF, Greyson D, Saewyc E. Primary care access and foregone care: a survey of transgender adolescents and young adults. Family practice. 2018;35(3):302-6.

 Edbrooke-Childs J, Patalay P. Ethnic differences in referral routes to youth mental health services. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. 2019;58(3):368-75. e1.

12. Howes OD, Whitehurst T, Shatalina E, Townsend L, Onwordi EC, Mak TLA, et al. The clinical significance of duration of untreated psychosis: an umbrella review and random-effects meta-analysis. World Psychiatry. 2021;20(1):75-95.

13. Austin A, Flynn M, Richards K, Hodsoll J, Duarte TA, Robinson P, et al. Duration of untreated eating disorder and relationship to outcomes: A systematic review of the literature. European Eating Disorders Review. 2021;29(3):329-45.

14. Drancourt N, Etain B, Lajnef M, Henry C, Raust A, Cochet B, et al. Duration of untreated bipolar disorder: missed opportunities on the long road to optimal treatment. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 2013;127(2):136-44.

Harvey-Sullivan A, Lynch H, Tolley A, Gitlin-Leigh G, Kuhn I, Ford JA. What impact do self-referral and direct access pathways for patients have on health inequalities? Health Policy. 2024;139:104951.

16. Association AP. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.

17. Vigo D, Thornicroft G, Atun R. Estimating the true global burden of mental illness. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2016;3(2):171-8.

18. Schaefer JD, Caspi A, Belsky DW, Harrington H, Houts R, Horwood LJ, et al. Enduring mental health: Prevalence and prediction. Journal of abnormal psychology. 2017;126(2):212.

Goldberg D, Goodyer IM. The origins and course of common mental disorders:
 Routledge; 2014.

20. Eaton WW. Studying the natural history of psychopathology. Textbook in psychiatric epidemiology. 2002:213-38.

21. Rucci P, Gherardi S, Tansella M, Piccinelli M, Berardi D, Bisoffi G, et al. Subthreshold psychiatric disorders in primary care: prevalence and associated characteristics. Journal of affective disorders. 2003;76(1-3):171-81.

Shankman SA, Lewinsohn PM, Klein DN, Small JW, Seeley JR, Altman SE.
 Subthreshold conditions as precursors for full syndrome disorders: a 15-year longitudinal study of multiple diagnostic classes. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2009;50(12):1485-94.

23. Solmi M, Soardo L, Kaur S, Azis M, Cabras A, Censori M, et al. Meta-analytic prevalence of comorbid mental disorders in individuals at clinical high risk of psychosis: the case for transdiagnostic assessment. Molecular Psychiatry. 2023;28(6):2291-300.

24. Woodberry KA, Shapiro DI, Bryant C, Seidman LJ. Progress and future directions in research on the psychosis prodrome: a review for clinicians. Harvard review of psychiatry. 2016;24(2):87-103.

 Weisz JR, Sandler IN, Durlak JA, Anton BS. Promoting and protecting youth mental health through evidence-based prevention and treatment. American psychologist.
 2005;60(6):628.

26. Fusar-Poli P. Integrated mental health services for the developmental period (0 to 25 years): a critical review of the evidence. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2019;10:453564.

27. Arribas M, Oliver D, Patel R, Kornblum D, Shetty H, Damiani S, et al. A transdiagnostic prodrome for severe mental disorders: an electronic health record study. Molecular Psychiatry. 2024:1-11.

 Dalgleish T, Black M, Johnston D, Bevan A. Transdiagnostic approaches to mental health problems: Current status and future directions. Journal of consulting and clinical psychology. 2020;88(3):179.

29. Newman DL, Moffitt TE, Caspi A, Silva PA. Comorbid mental disorders: implications for treatment and sample selection. Journal of abnormal psychology. 1998;107(2):305.

30. Dai H, Mei Z, An A, Wu J. Epidemiology of physical and mental comorbidity in Canada and implications for health-related quality of life, suicidal ideation, and healthcare utilization: A nationwide cross-sectional study. Journal of Affective Disorders. 2020;263:209-15.

31. Saxena S, Kane J, Krawczyk N, Bass JK. 467Mental Health Systems Around the World.In: Eaton WW, Fallin MD, editors. Public Mental Health: Oxford University Press; 2019. p. 0.

32. Patel V, Saxena S, Lund C, Kohrt B, Kieling C, Sunkel C, et al. Transforming mental health systems globally: principles and policy recommendations. The Lancet.

2023;402(10402):656-66.

33. Vigo DV, Kestel D, Pendakur K, Thornicroft G, Atun R. Disease burden and government spending on mental, neurological, and substance use disorders, and self-harm: cross-sectional,

ecological study of health system response in the Americas. The Lancet Public Health. 2019;4(2):e89-e96.

34. Gupta S, Methuen C, Kent P, Chatain G, Christie D, Torales J, et al. Economic development does not improve public mental health spending. International Review of Psychiatry. 2016;28(4):415-9.

Chow WS, Priebe S. Understanding psychiatric institutionalization: a conceptual review.
 BMC psychiatry. 2013;13:1-14.

Goffman E. Essays on the social situation of mental patients and other inmates:
 Doubelday; 1961.

37. Tansella M. Better mental health care: Cambridge University Press; 2009.

38. Thornicroft G, Deb T, Henderson C. Community mental health care worldwide: current status and further developments. World Psychiatry. 2016;15(3):276-86.

Wilson M. Strengthening the Case for Investing in Canada's Mental Health System:Economic Considerations: Mental Health Commission of Canada; 2017.

40. Taylor TL, Killaspy H, Wright C, Turton P, White S, Kallert TW, et al. A systematic review of the international published literature relating to quality of institutional care for people with longer term mental health problems. BMC psychiatry. 2009;9:1-30.

41. Hoagwood K, Burns BJ, Kiser L, Ringeisen H, Schoenwald SK. Evidence-based practice in child and adolescent mental health services. Psychiatric services. 2001;52(9):1179-89.

42. Signorini G, Singh SP, Marsanic VB, Dieleman G, Dodig-Ćurković K, Franic T, et al. The interface between child/adolescent and adult mental health services: results from a European 28-country survey. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2018;27:501-11. 43. Singh SP, Paul M, Ford T, Kramer T, Weaver T. Transitions of care from child and adolescent mental health services to adult mental health services (TRACK study): a study of protocols in Greater London. BMC health services research. 2008;8:1-7.

44. Organization WH. World mental health report: Transforming mental health for all. 2022.

45. Kates N, Arroll B, Currie E, Hanlon C, Gask L, Klasen H, et al. Improving collaboration
between primary care and mental health services. The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry.
2018.

46. Peachey D, Hicks V, Adams O. An imperative for change. Health Intelligence <u>https://cpa</u> ca/docs/File/Position/An_Imperative_for_ Change pdf. 2013.

47. Information CIfH. Health system resources for mental health and addictions care in Canada. Canadian Institute for Health Information Ottawa; 2019.

48. Sayal K, Taylor E. Detection of child mental health disorders by general practitioners.British Journal of General Practice. 2004;54(502):348-52.

49. Moroz N, Moroz I, D'Angelo MS, editors. Mental health services in Canada: barriers and cost-effective solutions to increase access. Healthcare management forum; 2020: SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA.

50. McGorry PD, Purcell R, Goldstone S, Amminger GP. Age of onset and timing of treatment for mental and substance use disorders: implications for preventive intervention strategies and models of care. Current opinion in psychiatry. 2011;24(4):301-6.

51. Nationen V. World population prospects 2022: Summary of results: UN; 2022.

52. McGorry PD, Mei C, Chanen A, Hodges C, Alvarez-Jimenez M, Killackey E. Designing and scaling up integrated youth mental health care. World Psychiatry. 2022;21(1):61-76.

53. Moffitt TE, Caspi A. Psychiatry's opportunity to prevent the rising burden of age-related disease. JAMA psychiatry. 2019;76(5):461-2.

54. Erskine H, Moffitt TE, Copeland W, Costello E, Ferrari A, Patton G, et al. A heavy burden on young minds: the global burden of mental and substance use disorders in children and youth. Psychological medicine. 2015;45(7):1551-63.

55. McGorry PD, Mei C. Early intervention in youth mental health: progress and future directions. BMJ Ment Health. 2018;21(4):182-4.

56. Radez J, Reardon T, Creswell C, Lawrence PJ, Evdoka-Burton G, Waite P. Why do children and adolescents (not) seek and access professional help for their mental health problems? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2021;30(2):183-211.

57. Ontario CsMH. Kids can't wait: 2020 report on wait lists and wait times for child and youth mental health care in Ontario. ON: Children's Mental Health Ontario Toronto; 2020.

58. Srebnik D, Cauce AM, Baydar N. Help-seeking pathways for children and adolescents. Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. 1996;4(4):210-20.

59. MacDonald K, Fainman-Adelman N, Anderson KK, Iyer SN. Pathways to mental health services for young people: a systematic review. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2018;53:1005-38.

60. Rogler LH, Cortes DE. Help-seeking pathways: a unifying concept in mental health care. The American Journal of Psychiatry. 1993;150(4):554-61.

61. Brunet K, Birchwood M, Lester H, Thornhill K. Delays in mental health services and duration of untreated psychosis. Psychiatric Bulletin. 2007;31(11):408-10.

62. Dell'Osso B, Altamura AC. Duration of untreated psychosis and duration of untreated illness: new vistas. CNS spectrums. 2010;15(4):238-46.

63. Vigne P, Fortes P, Dias RV, Laurito LD, Loureiro CP, De Menezes GB, et al. Duration of untreated illness in a cross-diagnostic sample of obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, and social anxiety disorder. CNS spectrums. 2019;24(5):526-32.

64. Perris F, Sampogna G, Giallonardo V, Agnese S, Palummo C, Luciano M, et al. Duration of untreated illness predicts 3-year outcome in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder: A real-world, naturalistic, follow-up study. Psychiatry research. 2021;299:113872.

65. MURRAY S, EATON WW. Pathways to Care. Public Mental Health. 2019:439.

66. Bechard-Evans L, Schmitz N, Abadi S, Joober R, King S, Malla A. Determinants of helpseeking and system related components of delay in the treatment of first-episode psychosis. Schizophrenia research. 2007;96(1-3):206-14.

67. Cabassa LJ, Piscitelli S, Haselden M, Lee RJ, Essock SM, Dixon LB. Understanding pathways to care of individuals entering a specialized early intervention service for first-episode psychosis. Psychiatric Services. 2018;69(6):648-56.

68. Gill PJ, Saunders N, Gandhi S, Gonzalez A, Kurdyak P, Vigod S, et al. Emergency department as a first contact for mental health problems in children and youth. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. 2017;56(6):475-82. e4.

69. McGorry PD. The specialist youth mental health model: strengthening the weakest link in the public mental health system. Medical Journal of Australia. 2007;187(S7):S53-S6.

70. Brown A, Rice SM, Rickwood DJ, Parker AG. Systematic review of barriers and facilitators to accessing and engaging with mental health care among at-risk young people. Asia-Pacific Psychiatry. 2016;8(1):3-22.

Jensen EJ, Wieling E, Mendenhall T. A phenomenological study of clinicians' perspectives on barriers to rural mental health care. Journal of Rural Mental Health.2020;44(1):51.

72. Boydell KM, Pong R, Volpe T, Tilleczek K, Wilson E, Lemieux S. Family perspectives on pathways to mental health care for children and youth in rural communities. The Journal of Rural Health. 2006;22(2):182-8.

73. Romanelli M, Hudson KD. Individual and systemic barriers to health care: Perspectives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender adults. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry.
2017;87(6):714.

74. Price M, Dalgleish J. Help-seeking among indigenous Australian adolescents: exploring attitudes, behaviours and barriers. Youth Studies Australia. 2013;32(1):10-8.

75. Goetz CJ, Mushquash CJ, Maranzan KA. An integrative review of barriers and facilitators associated with mental health help seeking among indigenous populations. Psychiatric Services. 2023;74(3):272-81.

76. Fante-Coleman T, Jackson-Best F. Barriers and facilitators to accessing mental healthcare in Canada for Black youth: A scoping review. Adolescent Research Review. 2020;5(2):115-36.

77. Castro-Ramirez F, Al-Suwaidi M, Garcia P, Rankin O, Ricard JR, Nock MK. Racism and poverty are barriers to the treatment of youth mental health concerns. Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology. 2021;50(4):534-46.

78. MacDonald K, Ferrari M, Fainman-Adelman N, Iyer SN. Experiences of pathways to mental health services for young people and their carers: a qualitative meta-synthesis review. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2021;56:339-61.

79. DuPont-Reyes MJ, Villatoro AP, Phelan JC, Painter K, Link BG. Adolescent views of mental illness stigma: An intersectional lens. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry.
2020;90(2):201.

80. Robards F, Kang M, Steinbeck K, Hawke C, Jan S, Sanci L, et al. Health care equity and access for marginalised young people: a longitudinal qualitative study exploring health system navigation in Australia. International journal for equity in health. 2019;18:1-14.

81. Chang AR, Slopen N. Racial and ethnic disparities for unmet needs by mental health condition: 2016 to 2021. Pediatrics. 2024;153(1).

82. Zeeman L, Sherriff N, Browne K, McGlynn N, Mirandola M, Gios L, et al. A review of lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans and intersex (LGBTI) health and healthcare inequalities. European journal of public health. 2019;29(5):974-80.

83. Shipherd JC, Green KE, Abramovitz S. Transgender clients: Identifying and minimizing barriers to mental health treatment. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health. 2010;14(2):94-108.

84. Duncan L, Georgiades K, Reid GJ, Comeau J, Birch S, Wang L, et al. Area-level variation in children's unmet need for community-based mental health services: Findings from the 2014 Ontario Child Health Study. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research. 2020;47:665-79.

85. Anderson JK, Howarth E, Vainre M, Jones PB, Humphrey A. A scoping literature review of service-level barriers for access and engagement with mental health services for children and young people. Children and Youth Services Review. 2017;77:164-76.

86. Doll CM, Michel C, Rosen M, Osman N, Schimmelmann BG, Schultze-Lutter F.
Predictors of help-seeking behaviour in people with mental health problems: a 3-year prospective community study. BMC psychiatry. 2021;21:1-11.

124

87. Anderson KK, Fuhrer R, Schmitz N, Malla AK. Determinants of negative pathways to care and their impact on service disengagement in first-episode psychosis. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2013;48:125-36.

88. Rickwood DJ, Deane FP, Wilson CJ. When and how do young people seek professional help for mental health problems? Medical journal of Australia. 2007;187(S7):S35-S9.

 Rickwood DJ, Mazzer KR, Telford NR. Social influences on seeking help from mental health services, in-person and online, during adolescence and young adulthood. BMC psychiatry. 2015;15:1-9.

90. Abrams AH, Badolato GM, Boyle MD, McCarter R, Goyal MK. Racial and ethnic disparities in pediatric mental health-related emergency department visits. Pediatric emergency care. 2022;38(1):e214-e8.

91. Wahlin T, Deane F. Discrepancies between parent-and adolescent-perceived problem severity and influences on help seeking from mental health services. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2012;46(6):553-60.

92. Hassett A, Green C, Zundel T. Parental involvement: a grounded theory of the role of parents in adolescent help seeking for mental health problems. Sage open.

2018;8(4):2158244018807786.

93. Reardon T, Harvey K, Baranowska M, O'brien D, Smith L, Creswell C. What do parents perceive are the barriers and facilitators to accessing psychological treatment for mental health problems in children and adolescents? A systematic review of qualitative and quantitative studies. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2017;26:623-47.

94. Chiang S, Chin CA, Meyer EW, Sust S, Chu J. Asian American adolescent help-seeking pathways for psychological distress. Asian American Journal of Psychology. 2022;13(2):194.

95. Georgiades K, Duncan L, Wang L, Comeau J, Boyle MH, Team OCHS. Six-month prevalence of mental disorders and service contacts among children and youth in Ontario: evidence from the 2014 Ontario Child Health Study. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2019;64(4):246-55.

96. Allison S, Roeger L, Abbot D. Overcoming barriers in referral from schools to mental health services. Australasian Psychiatry. 2008;16(1):44-7.

97. Dimitropoulos G, Cullen E, Cullen O, Pawluk C, McLuckie A, Patten S, et al. "Teachers often see the red flags first": perceptions of school staff regarding their roles in supporting students with mental health concerns. School mental health. 2021:1-14.

98. Stephan SH, Weist M, Kataoka S, Adelsheim S, Mills C. Transformation of children's mental health services: The role of school mental health. Psychiatric Services. 2007;58(10):1330-8.

99. Barksdale CL, Azur M, Leaf PJ. Differences in mental health service sector utilization among African American and Caucasian youth entering systems of care programs. The journal of behavioral health services & research. 2010;37:363-73.

100. Whitaker K, Nicodimos S, Pullmann MD, Duong MT, Bruns EJ, Wasse JK, et al. Predictors of disparities in access and retention in school-based mental health services. School mental health. 2018;10:111-21.

101. Guo S, Kataoka SH, Bear L, Lau AS. Differences in school-based referrals for mental health care: Understanding racial/ethnic disparities between Asian American and Latino youth. School Mental Health. 2014;6:27-39. 102. Lu W, Todhunter-Reid A, Mitsdarffer ML, Muñoz-Laboy M, Yoon AS, Xu L. Barriers and facilitators for mental health service use among racial/ethnic minority adolescents: a systematic review of literature. Frontiers in public health. 2021;9:641605.

103. Locke J, Kang-Yi CD, Pellecchia M, Marcus S, Hadley T, Mandell DS. Ethnic disparities in school-based behavioral health service use for children with psychiatric disorders. Journal of School Health. 2017;87(1):47-54.

104. Hoter-Ishay G, Mashiach-Eizenberg M, Roe D. Young help-seeker profiles in Israel: The case of the first Israeli headspace centre. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2022;16(3):302-10.

105. Mathias S, Tee K, Helfrich W, Gerty K, Chan G, Barbic SP. Foundry: Early learnings from the implementation of an integrated youth service network. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2022;16(4):410-8.

106. Pedrini L, Sisti D, Tiberti A, Preti A, Fabiani M, Ferraresi L, et al. Reasons and pathways of first-time consultations at child and adolescent mental health services: an observational study in Italy. Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health. 2015;9:1-9.

107. Reinke WM, Stormont M, Herman KC, Puri R, Goel N. Supporting children's mental health in schools: Teacher perceptions of needs, roles, and barriers. School psychology quarterly.2011;26(1):1.

108. O'Farrell P, Wilson C, Shiel G. Teachers' perceptions of the barriers to assessment of mental health in schools with implications for educational policy: A systematic review. British Journal of Educational Psychology. 2023;93(1):262-82.

109. O'Brien D, Harvey K, Howse J, Reardon T, Creswell C. Barriers to managing child and adolescent mental health problems: a systematic review of primary care practitioners' perceptions. British Journal of General Practice. 2016;66(651):e693-e707.

127

110. Sayal K. Annotation: Pathways to care for children with mental health problems. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2006;47(7):649-59.

111. Leahy D, Schaffalitzky E, Saunders J, Armstrong C, Meagher D, Ryan P, et al. Role of the general practitioner in providing early intervention for youth mental health: a mixed methods investigation. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2018;12(2):202-16.

Platz C, Umbricht DS, Cattapan-Ludewig K, Dvorsky D, Arbach D, Brenner H-D, et al.
Help-seeking pathways in early psychosis. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology.
2006;41:967-74.

113. Sharifi V, Kermani-Ranjbar T, Amini H, Alaghband-rad J, Salesian N, Seddigh A.Duration of untreated psychosis and pathways to care in patients with first-episode psychosis inIran. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2009;3(2):131-6.

114. Giasuddin NA, Chowdhury NF, Hashimoto N, Fujisawa D, Waheed S. Pathways to psychiatric care in Bangladesh. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2012;47:129-36.

115. Edbrooke-Childs J, Deighton J. Problem severity and waiting times for young people accessing mental health services. BJPsych open. 2020;6(6):e118.

116. Colvin EG, Tobon JI, Jeffs L, Veltman A. Transgender clients at a youth mental health care clinic: Transcending barriers to access. The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality.
2019;28(3):272-6.

117. Freeman J, Strauss P, Hamilton S, Pugh C, Browne K, Caren S, et al. They told me "this isn'ta hotel": young people's experiences and perceptions of care when presenting to the emergency department with suicide-related behaviour. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2022;19(3):1377.

118. Lategan C, Newton AS, Thull-Freedman J, Stang A, Lang E, Arnold P, et al. An evaluation of satisfaction with emergency department care in children and adolescents with mental health concerns. Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2023;25(6):498-507.

119. Byrne SJ, Bellairs-Walsh I, Rice SM, Bendall S, Lamblin M, Boubis E, et al. A qualitative account of young people's experiences seeking care from emergency departments for self-harm. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2021;18(6):2892.

120. Cadorna G, Vera San Juan N, Staples H, Johnson S, Appleton R. Systematic review and metasynthesis of qualitative literature on young people's experiences of going to A&E/emergency departments for mental health support. Child and adolescent mental health. 2023.

121. MacWilliams K, Curran J, Racek J, Cloutier P, Cappelli M. Barriers and facilitators to implementing the HEADS-ED: a rapid screening tool for pediatric patients in emergency departments. Pediatric Emergency Care. 2017;33(12):774-80.

122. Jabbour M, Reid S, Polihronis C, Cloutier P, Gardner W, Kennedy A, et al. Improving mental health care transitions for children and youth: a protocol to implement and evaluate an emergency department clinical pathway. Implementation Science. 2015;11:1-9.

123. Archie S, Akhtar-Danesh N, Norman R, Malla A, Roy P, Zipursky R. Ethnic diversity and pathways to care for a first episode of psychosis in Ontario. Schizophrenia bulletin.
2010;36(4):688-701.

124. Chui Z, Gazard B, MacCrimmon S, Harwood H, Downs J, Bakolis I, et al. Inequalities in referral pathways for young people accessing secondary mental health services in south east London. European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. 2021;30(7):1113-28.

125. Rickwood D, Paraskakis M, Quin D, Hobbs N, Ryall V, Trethowan J, et al. Australia's innovation in youth mental health care: The headspace centre model. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2019;13(1):159-66.

126. O'Reilly A, O'Brien G, Moore J, Duffy J, Longmore P, Cullinan S, et al. Evolution of jigsaw-a national youth mental health service. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2022;16(5):5617.

127. Schlesinger A, Sengupta S, Marx L, Hilt R, Martini DR, DeMaso DR, et al. Clinical update: collaborative mental health care for children and adolescents in pediatric primary care.Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry. 2023;62(2):91-119.

128. Halsall T, Manion I, Iyer SN, Mathias S, Purcell R, Henderson J, editors. Trends in mental health system transformation: integrating youth services within the Canadian context. Healthcare management forum; 2019: SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA.

129. Colizzi M, Lasalvia A, Ruggeri M. Prevention and early intervention in youth mental health: is it time for a multidisciplinary and trans-diagnostic model for care? International journal of mental health systems. 2020;14:1-14.

Brown JS, Boardman J, Whittinger N, Ashworth M. Can a self-referral system help
improve access to psychological treatments? British Journal of General Practice.
2010;60(574):365-71.

131. Marriott S, Malone S, Onyett S, Tyrer P. The consequences of an open referral system to a community mental health service. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 1993;88(2):93-7.

132. Odell S, Surtees P, Wainwright N, Commander M, Sashidharan S. Determinants of general practitioner recognition of psychological problems in a multi-ethnic inner-city health district. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 1997;171(6):537-41.

130

133. Thomas F, Hansford L, Ford J, Wyatt K, McCabe R, Byng R. How accessible and acceptable are current GP referral mechanisms for IAPT for low-income patients? Lay and primary care perspectives. Journal of Mental Health. 2020;29(6):706-11.

134. Neill TK, Novack AH, Bromet EJ, Abramovitz RH. Utilization patterns and presenting problems in an inner-city child mental health service. Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry. 1977;16(2):285-95.

135. Joseph RG, Kallivayalil RA, Rajeev A. Pathways to care in children-perspectives from a child guidance clinic in South India. Asian Journal of Psychiatry. 2020;54:102310.

136. Guo S, Kim JJ, Bear L, Lau AS. Does depression screening in schools reduce adolescent racial/ethnic disparities in accessing treatment? Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology. 2017;46(4):523-36.

137. Edbrooke-Childs J, Newman R, Fleming I, Deighton J, Wolpert M. The association between ethnicity and care pathway for children with emotional problems in routinely collected child and adolescent mental health services data. European child & adolescent psychiatry. 2016;25:539-46.

138. Khan YS, Al-Shamlawi M, Phiri L, Alabdulla M. Triage of referrals in a child and adolescent mental health service in Qatar: reducing waiting times and promoting needs-based prioritisation. BJPsych International. 2021;18(3):67-70.

139. Scholten DJ, Malla AK, Norman RM, McLean TS, McIntosh EM, McDonald CL, et al. Removing barriers to treatment of first-episode psychotic disorders. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2003;48(8):561-5. 140. O'Donoghue B, Polari A, McGorry P, Nelson B. Young migrants to Australia identified as being at ultra-high risk for psychosis: Pathways to care and clinical characteristics. Schizophrenia Research. 2022;241:156-60.

141. Ramirez A, Ekselius L, Ramklint M. Mental disorders among young adults self-referred and referred by professionals to specialty mental health care. Psychiatric services.
2009;60(12):1649-55.

142. Marino L, Scodes J, Ngo H, Nossel I, Bello I, Wall M, et al. Determinants of pathways to care among young adults with early psychosis entering a coordinated specialty care program. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2020;14(5):544-52.

143. Southam-Gerow MA, Chorpita BF, Miller LM, Gleacher AA. Are children with anxiety disorders privately referred to a university clinic like those referred from the public mental health system? Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research. 2008;35:168-80.

144. Samargia LA, Saewyc EM, Elliott BA. Foregone mental health care and self-reported access barriers among adolescents. The Journal of School Nursing. 2006;22(1):17-24.

145. O'Reilly A, Illback R, Peiper N, O'Keeffe L, Clayton R. Youth engagement with an emerging Irish mental health early intervention programme (Jigsaw): participant characteristics and implications for service delivery. Journal of Mental Health. 2015;24(5):283-8.

146. Higgins A, Downes C, Murphy R, Sharek D, Begley T, McCann E, et al. LGBT+ young people's perceptions of barriers to accessing mental health services in Ireland. Journal of nursing management. 2021;29(1):58-67.

147. Iyer SN, Shah J, Boksa P, Lal S, Joober R, Andersson N, et al. A minimum evaluation protocol and stepped-wedge cluster randomized trial of ACCESS Open Minds, a large Canadian youth mental health services transformation project. BMC psychiatry. 2019;19:1-17.

148. Puckett JA, Cleary P, Rossman K, Mustanski B, Newcomb ME. Barriers to genderaffirming care for transgender and gender nonconforming individuals. Sexuality Research and Social Policy. 2018;15:48-59.

149. Broussard KA, Warner RH, Pope AR. Too many boxes, or not enough? Preferences for how we ask about gender in cisgender, LGB, and gender-diverse samples. Sex Roles.2018;78:606-24.

150. Canada S. Indigenous Peoples Reference Guide, Census of Population 2021 2022
[Available from: <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/ref/98-500/009/98-500-</u>x2021009-eng.cfm.

151. Canada S. Visible Minority and Population Group Reference Guide, National Household
 Survey, 2011 2011 [Available from: <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/nhs-enm/2011/ref/guides/99-010-x/99-010-x2011009-eng.cfm</u>.

152. Mayer KH, Bradford JB, Makadon HJ, Stall R, Goldhammer H, Landers S. Sexual and gender minority health: what we know and what needs to be done. American journal of public health. 2008;98(6):989-95.

153. Dooley BA, Fitzgerald A. My world survey: National study of youth mental health in Ireland: Headstrong and UCD School of Psychology; 2012.

154. Mascherini M. Origins and future of the concept of NEETs in the European policy agenda. Youth labor in transition. 2019;503:529.

155. Rodwell L, Romaniuk H, Nilsen W, Carlin JB, Lee K, Patton GC. Adolescent mental health and behavioural predictors of being NEET: a prospective study of young adults not in employment, education, or training. Psychological medicine. 2018;48(5):861-71.

156. Gariépy G, Danna SM, Hawke L, Henderson J, Iyer SN. The mental health of young people who are not in education, employment, or training: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2022:1-15.

157. Program P-CEI, Council CES. Education indicators in Canada: Canadian EducationStatistics Council= Conseil des statistiques canadiennes ...; 1996.

158. OECD. Youth not in employment, education or training (NEET) (indicator) 2024 [updated 15 June 2024.

159. Canada S. Educational attainment of person [Available from:

https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p3Var.pl?Function=DEC&Id=85134.

160. Goldman HH, Skodol AE, Lave TR. Revising axis V for DSM-IV: a review of measures of social functioning. Am J Psychiatry. 1992;149:9.

161. Berk M, Ng F, Dodd S, Callaly T, Campbell S, Bernardo M, et al. The validity of the CGI severity and improvement scales as measures of clinical effectiveness suitable for routine clinical use. Journal of evaluation in clinical practice. 2008;14(6):979-83.

162. Busner J, Targum SD. The clinical global impressions scale: applying a research tool in clinical practice. Psychiatry (edgmont). 2007;4(7):28.

163. Hilsenroth MJ, Ackerman SJ, Blagys MD, Baumann BD, Baity MR, Smith SR, et al.
Reliability and validity of DSM-IV axis V. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2000;157(11):185863.

164. Albert N, Bertelsen M, Thorup A, Petersen L, Jeppesen P, Le Quack P, et al. Predictors of recovery from psychosis: analyses of clinical and social factors associated with recovery among patients with first-episode psychosis after 5 years. Schizophrenia research. 2011;125(2-3):257-66.

165. Rossouw J, Carey E, Doyle E, O'Brien G, Cullinan S, O'Reilly A. A year in perspective: The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on engagement with Jigsaw youth mental health services. Early Intervention in Psychiatry. 2022;16(7):792-9.

166. Crowther MJ, Royston P, Clements M. A flexible parametric accelerated failure time model and the extension to time-dependent acceleration factors. Biostatistics. 2023;24(3):811-31.

167. Rubin DB. Multiple imputation. Flexible Imputation of Missing Data, Second Edition: Chapman and Hall/CRC; 2018. p. 29-62.

168. Van Buuren S, Groothuis-Oudshoorn K. mice: Multivariate imputation by chained equations in R. Journal of statistical software. 2011;45:1-67.

169. Madley-Dowd P, Hughes R, Tilling K, Heron J. The proportion of missing data should not be used to guide decisions on multiple imputation. Journal of clinical epidemiology.
2019;110:63-73.

170. Collins LM, Schafer JL, Kam C-M. A comparison of inclusive and restrictive strategies in modern missing data procedures. Psychological methods. 2001;6(4):330.

171. White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. Statistics in medicine. 2011;30(4):377-99.

172. White IR, Royston P. Imputing missing covariate values for the Cox model. Statistics in medicine. 2009;28(15):1982-98.

173. O'keeffe L, O'Reilly A, O'Brien G, Buckley R, Illback R. Description and outcome evaluation of Jigsaw: an emergent Irish mental health early intervention programme for young people. Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine. 2015;32(1):71-7.

Scott EM, Hermens DF, Glozier N, Naismith SL, Guastella AJ, Hickie IB. Targeted
primary care-based mental health services for young Australians. Medical Journal of Australia.
2012;196(2):136-40.

175. Canada S. A statistical portrait of Canada's diverse LGBTQ2+ communities. The Daily.2021.

176. Booth A, Tibbs M, O'Reilly A. JIGSAW.

177. Wang A, Tobon JI, Bieling P, Jeffs L, Colvin E, Zipursky RB. Rethinking service design for youth with mental health needs: The development of the Youth Wellness Centre, St. Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton. Early intervention in psychiatry. 2020;14(3):365-72.

178. Kaufman EA, McDonell MG, Cristofalo MA, Ries RK. Exploring barriers to primary care for patients with severe mental illness: frontline patient and provider accounts. Issues in mental health nursing. 2012;33(3):172-80.

179. Murphy D, Heary C, Hennessy M, O'Reilly MD, Hennessy E. A systematic review of help-seeking interventions for parents of adolescents. Journal of Adolescent Health.2022;70(1):16-27.